

Community Services Scrutiny Committee

Date: Tuesday, 6th June, 2006

Time: **2.00 p.m.**

Place: Prockington 25 Hefod

Brockington, 35 Hafod Road,

Hereford

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of

the meeting.

For any further information please contact:

Craig Goodall, Members' Services,

Tel/Fax:01432 260445

email - cgoodall@herefordshire.gov.uk

County of Herefordshire District Council



AGENDA

for the Meeting of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee

To: Councillor A.C.R. Chappell (Chairman)
Councillor H. Bramer (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors M.R. Cunningham, Mrs. S.P.A. Daniels, J.G.S. Guthrie,

B. Hunt, D.C. Taylor, P.G. Turpin and A.L. Williams

Co-opted Members Ms. C. Jones (Chamber of Commerce), G. Jones (Tourism

Sector), Mrs. E. Newman (HALC) and Mr. P. Thomas

(Herefordshire NFU)

Pages

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive apologies for absence.

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

To receive details any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting in place of a Member of the Committee.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on the Agenda.

4. MINUTES 1 - 10

To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 24th March 2006.

5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE SCRUTINY

To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the Committee could scrutinise in the future.

6. REVIEW OF THE COURTYARD CENTRE FOR THE ARTS

11 - 62

To consider the findings of the Courtyard Review Group following the review of The Courtyard Centre for the Arts.

7. PRESENTATION FROM THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL ON THE 63 - 66 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME AREA

To receive a presentation from the Leader of the Council to advise Members of the annual activity in the Economic Development programme area within Herefordshire.

8. PREPARATIONS FOR THE THREE CHOIRS FESTIVAL To update Members on the work undertaken to promote the Three Choirs

Festival in Hereford in August 2006 and the work undertaken to raise the profile of the Festival.

9. PROPOSED REVIEW OF HEREFORD CITY PARTNERSHIP

To consider a scoping statement for the proposed review of Hereford City Partnership.

69 - 74

PUBLIC INFORMATION

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing, Childrens' Services, Community Services, Environment, and Health. A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees.

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and transparency of the Council's decision making process.

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to

- Help in developing Council policy
- Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions before and after decisions are taken
- Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public
- "call in" decisions this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further scrutiny.
- Review performance of the Council
- Conduct Best Value reviews
- Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public

Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out overleaf

PUBLIC INFORMATION

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny Committees to investigate.

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at Herefordshire Council's Scrutiny Committee meetings.

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time when the matter is raised. Councillors will research the issue and consider whether it should form part of the Committee's work programme when compared with other competing priorities.

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within their specific remit (see below). If a matter is raised which falls within the remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to the relevant Chairman for their consideration.

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item listed on the agenda. If you have a question you would like to ask then please submit it **no later than two working days before the meeting** to the Committee Officer. This will help to ensure that an answer can be provided at the meeting. Contact details for the Committee Officer can be found on the front page of this agenda.

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the discussion at the meeting. This will be at the Chairman's discretion.

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss questions relating to personal or confidential issues.)

Remits of Herefordshire Council's Scrutiny Committees

Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing

Statutory functions for adult social services including: Learning Disabilities Strategic Housing Supporting People Public Health

Children's Services

Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including education, health and social care.

Community Services Scrutiny Committee

Libraries
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism
Leisure Services
Parks and Countryside
Community Safety
Economic Development
Youth Services

Health

Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area Health Improvement Services provided by the NHS

Environment

Environmental Issues Highways and Transportation

Strategic Monitoring Committee

Corporate Strategy and Finance Resources Corporate and Customer Services **Human Resources**

The Public's Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings

YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: -

- Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business to be transacted would disclose 'confidential' or 'exempt' information.
- Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.
- Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six years following a meeting.
- Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up
 to four years from the date of the meeting. (A list of the background papers to a
 report is given at the end of each report). A background paper is a document on
 which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available
 to the public.
- Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees.
- Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees.
- Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.
- Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage).
- Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents.

Please Note:

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large print. Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this agenda **in advance** of the meeting who will be pleased to deal with your request.

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available.

A public telephone is available in the reception area.

Public Transport Links

- Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs approximately every half hour from the 'Hopper' bus station at the Tesco store in Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / Edgar Street).
- The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction with Hafod Road. The return journey can be made from the same bus stop.

If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford.



Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. Deinked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label.

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD.

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring continuously.

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the nearest available fire exit.

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at the southern entrance to the car park. A check will be undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the building following which further instructions will be given.

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the exits.

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to collect coats or other personal belongings.

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MINUTES of the meeting of Community Services Scrutiny Committee held at The Burton Hotel, Mill Street, Kington, Herefordshire on Friday, 24th March, 2006 at 10.00 a.m.

Present: Councillor A.C.R. Chappell (Chairman)

Councillor H. Bramer (Vice Chairman)

Councillors M.R. Cunningham, J.G.S. Guthrie, J.W. Hope MBE, T.M.

James and P.G. Turpin

Co-opted Members G. Jones (Tourism Sector) and Mrs. E. Newman

(Herefordshire Association of Local Councils)

In attendance: Councillors R.V. Stockton (Cabinet Member – Community Services)

and R.M. Wilson (Cabinet Member – Resources)

40. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillors R.B.A. Burke, J.C. Mayson (Cabinet Member – Rural Regeneration and Strategy) D.C. Taylor and A.L. Williams and Ms. C. Jones (Chamber of Commerce).

41. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

Councillor J.W. Hope MBE substituted for Councillor R.B.A. Burke and Councillor T.M. James substituted for Councillor A.L. Williams.

42. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Mrs. E. Newman declared personal interests in Item 8 'Refurbishment of Kington Library' and Item 10 'Scoping Statement for Proposed Review of Independent Museums and Heritage Centres'.

43. MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the minutes for the meeting held on 11th and reconvened on 13th January 2006, be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

44. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE SCRUTINY

There were no suggestions received from members of the public.

45. HALO LEISURE SERVICES LTD

The Committee received a presentation from Jon Argent, Chief Executive of HALO Leisure Services Ltd.

Mr Argent began his presentation by reminding the Committee that HALO had been established on 1st April 2002 as a registered charity with 25 year leases on its nine centres throughout the County. At its nine centres HALO employed 380 full and part

time staff and recorded 1.5 million visits and a turnover of £6m per annum.

Mr Argent explained that even though HALO was officially a charity it was still operated as a business with surpluses being returned to the community through improved facilities rather than paid as dividends to shareholders.

The Committee was informed that the Council provided HALO with 20% of its annual income, however, as this income was not subject to Retail Price Increases the Council's input to HALO was in fact reducing over time. This was significant as it meant that, in order to meet unavoidable cost increases, HALO was dependent on creating new income streams to increase revenue rather than relying on grants. Mr Argent reported to the Committee that in 2005/06 HALO will again return an operating surplus. This money would be reinvested into the business for future priorities as identified by the Vision Group made up of Councillors, and Council and HALO Officers.

The Committee heard how opinion surveys of HALO Staff had revealed that the vast majority of staff enjoyed their jobs, were motivated, and proud to work for HALO and prepared to recommend the company as an employer to their friends. This fitted the company's original ethos of becoming 'an employer of choice'.

Mr Argent explained that HALOs facilities were externally inspected and revealed that Ross Pool had recently been received a score of 80% in a QUEST Inspection which was the equated to being the sixth highest score awarded in the Country. All Halo centres are within the top quartile of the assessment programme nationally.

The Committee heard about HALO's future investment strategy and how it was essential that investment was made to drive revenue. Examples were given of how it was planned that the gyms be extended at HALO centres in Ross, Leominster and Hereford. Mr Argent asserted that this level of investment was required to increase current levels of revenue. In addition to this HALO sought to improve the current facilities that it offered. Schemes such as changing room refurbishment and locker replacement were funded from reserves and in partnership with the Council, however, these schemes were not commercial improvements.

In terms of asset management the Committee was informed that the Council was responsible for all structures and major plant replacements and that HALO was responsible for maintenance, emergency repairs and replacement of fixtures and fittings. To meet its responsibilities HALO had implemented comprehensive maintenance programmes for each of its centres. These programmes were delivered by qualified in-house teams and sub-contractors at a cost of £350,000 in 2005/06. With regard to Halo's responsibilities a 25-year repair and renewal programme had been established in 2003 with costs being budgeted for within each centre's annual budget. Each item of equipment HALO was responsible for was included on an inventory which included a budgeted replacement plan.

Mr Argent informed the Committee that a number of research methods were in place to monitor future client trends. Customers could offer feedback to HALO through mediums such as comment cards, texts, emails and the main HALO website. An opinion meter was also available on rotation through all centres which allowed customers to complete surveys on a stand alone machine at any time without HALO having to employ somebody to undertake the study for them. In addition to this, non-user surveys were carried out in order to ascertain how it would be possible for HALO to grow its customer base.

With regard to Herefordshire's demography and its growing elderly population Mr Argent informed Members that HALO would ensure that its programmes were developed to meet the needs of this group and that facilities were accessible to the widest practicable customer base. HALO was also committed to delivering broad social agendas including health and well-being, social inclusion and community safety. Partnership work with the Council and Primary Care Trust was a feature of HALO's work in delivering appropriate services to the communities it served.

Finally Mr Argent explained that HALO was committed to fulfilling its potential and ensuring that it supported the communities that it was created to provide for.

The following are the principal points from the ensuing discussion:

- Mr Argent was conscious of private developers entering the leisure market and emphasised the good research that was undertaken at HALO with regard to segmenting the broad market place. He anticipated that HALO would lose some customers to the new development at Holmer Park, Hereford but believed that the number of customers who would leave would be limited due the high cost of membership at Holmer Park. New Private Developments were another reason why HALO needed to continue updating facilities in order to retain its core customer base.
- HALO made over £400,000 of tax based savings in the last financial year due to being a not for profit organisation and registered charity.
- Mr Argent acknowledged that there had been some problems at Ross Sports Centre and highlighted the current partnership arrangements being implemented with local clubs and the Council in trying to build constructive relationships to address the current issues.
- If the Council decided that a skate park was one of its priorities then HALO would be happy to discuss managing the facility.
- The newly developed Leominster Swimming Pool was considered to be an extraordinary success. It was a well used facility used by many schools. There were currently over 500 children enrolled on learn to swim programmes.

The Cabinet Member (Community Services) commented on the difficulties which had been reported at Ross Sports Centre and assured the Committee that action was being taken to resolve the problems. He commented that even though HALO was a charity it was operated on business like principles. He added that the Vision Group meetings between the Council and HALO were always frank and solution based and he praised HALO for the transparency which it offered the Council in its monitoring of the company.

The Chairman thanked Mr Argent for attending the meeting and stated that he would like the Members of the Committee to visit some of HALO's facilities in the future.

46. COMMUNITY YOUTH SERVICE PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY YOUTH SECTOR

Members were informed of the working relationship between the voluntary and community sector and Herefordshire Council's Community Youth Service (CYS).

The Community Youth Service Manager began his presentation by reminding the Committee that in 1998 an external survey by De Montefort University had described the CYS as inadequate and that the local authority was failing in its duty to secure adequate provision for young people. The recommendations that the review suggested had been implemented. These had included the commencement of new partnership arrangements with the voluntary and community sector through the Youth Consortium.

In October 2005 the CYS had been assessed as part of the Joint Area Review (JAR) of Services for Children and Young People by Ofsted. The JAR report concluded that improvements had been made across all areas with the exception of 'curriculum and resources'. The report commented that: 'there were insufficient staff and resources to provide a consistently high quality and broad curriculum'. Overall the service was rated as 'adequate' and was described as having 'a balance of strengths and weaknesses'.

With regard to the CYS relationship with the voluntary and community sector, the CYS Manager explained to the Committee that the CYS contributed £52,032 per annum to the Herefordshire Council for Voluntary Youth Services (HCVYS) through a three-year Service Level Agreement (SLA). This three year SLA was up for renewal this year. The money granted to HCVYS was used to support youth work across the County and in return the Council could record the outcomes delivered by HCVYS and its members in its key performance indicator targets. However, the Council could only claim outcomes proportionate to the level of funding it provided.. The Ofsted inspector described CYS partnership arrangements as 'effective' and that they 'support and complemented its work'.

The CYS Manager informed the Committee that directorate responsibility for the CYS was changing. From the 1st April 2006 the CYS would sit within the Children's Services Directorate of the Council rather than Adult and Community Services and therefore scrutiny of the CYS would be undertaken by the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee.

The following are the principal points from the ensuing discussion:

- The Committee noted the recent appointment of the new Youth Council.
- The Committee referred to the key performance indicator targets included in a later agenda item and noted that none of the five targets were being satisfactorily met. It was asserted that the voluntary sector had contact with as many young people as the CYS but at a cost of approximately £50,000 rather than £1.1m. It was suggested that a fresh approach was required in order to maximise the returns the CYS provided.
- The Committee was informed that the CYS was still carrying an 8% vacancy rate and that even with a full team of staff the CYS would still not meet national guidelines for the ratio of youth workers compared to the number of young people.
- A Member of the Committee suggested that young people were not interested in gaining educational outcomes in their leisure time and this would obviously have an impact on the CYS achievements. This was why the voluntary sector was probably more successful at providing youth facilities as they did not have to adhere so strongly to producing educational outcomes from their activities.
- The CYS Manager informed the Committee that a significant administrative burden was created through having to monitor and compile data for quality and performance indicators.

The Cabinet Member (Community Services) acknowledged the problems within the CYS and commented that the service was fighting a difficult battle, particularly as it was carrying staff vacancies. Attempts to address this deficit had not been aided by the Job Evaluation process which had resulted in the wage levels for Herefordshire youth workers being unattractive compared to other local authorities.

The meeting adjourned at 11.15 a.m. and reconvened at 11.20 a.m.

RESOLVED:

That:

(a) the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee be informed of the concerns indicated above by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee regarding the Community Youth Service;

and;

(b) the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee continue to monitor the future performance of the Community Youth Service.

47. REFURBISHMENT OF KINGTON LIBRARY

Members were updated on the progress being made in the refurbishment of Kington Library.

Two questions were received from members of the public.

Miss Edwards, Kington Tourist Group asked:

"A burning question which concerns a number of bodies and individual people in and around Kington, is the provision Herefordshire Council intends to make to enable Kington Tourist Group to continue its work following the move of the Council's Info. Department to the Library and the imminent proposed sale of the building at 2 Mill Street.

We read that Tourism is vital to the economy of the County and Kington T.I.C. has a role to play in helping to build that economy. What is Herefordshire Council planning to do to ensure this vital service survives to serve Kington, one of the County's market towns, and the hinterland?"

Mrs Bradbury asked.

"In Kington, Sure Start and the Doctor's Practice both need new buildings, both also get finance from the Primary Care Trust and Herefordshire Council can they not be encouraged to share and have space for other organisations? For example Age Concern, Citizens Advice Bureau, Credit Union etc all serving the public, plus Kington Tourist Group shortly to be made homeless by Herefordshire Council?

The Weslyan Chapel is crying out to be restored and brought back into public use. We find the lack of joined up thinking and planning very frustrating and disappointing.

NB You are meeting in the Burton because we have no Community Hall available during the day!"

The Interim Head of Economic and Community Services informed the meeting that Kington Tourist Group was independent of the Council Tourist Information Centres (TICs) whilst Kington Tourist Group had a close working relationship with the Council the Group had its own policies and procedures.

Currently the Library was being redeveloped in the Town to which the Council's Info shop was relocating. The Info shop was currently located in the same building as Kington TIC, however, once the Info shop had relocated the Council was intending to sell the building which it had occupied. Kington T.I.C. had been offered the

opportunity to relocate to the newly refurbished Kington Library. Thereby providing a similar situation to the one that currently existed at the Bromyard Centre were the leisure centre, library and TIC all operated from one building. Kington Tourist Group had been offered a similar arrangement and raised concerns over the space offered to them.

The Committee was informed that Kington Tourist Group were currently in talks with potential partners with regard to purchasing the building they currently occupied. The Council's offer of space within the refurbished Kington Library was also still available.

A Member expressed his concern that to relocate the TIC to the library was a mistake. In its current location the TIC was located near the main car park in Kington which was used by most visitors. The library was not near this or any other car park so the likelihood was that if the TIC relocated to the library that there would be a downturn in the number of people using the TIC. The lack of parking would also make the relocated TIC difficult to access for disabled users as there was only one disabled parking bay near the library. He felt that the current arrangements for the TIC should be maintained as the current provision was staffed by volunteers at no cost to the Council.

The Cabinet Member (Community Services) and the Director of Adult and Community Services reassured the meeting that talks were still continuing between the Council and Kington Tourist Group as to possible options for future location.

The Cabinet Member (Community Services) and the Director of Adult and Community Services reassured the meeting that talks were still continuing between the Council and Kington Tourist Group and no decision had yet been made on this issue.

A Member of the Committee stressed the importance of addressing the issue before the start of the tourist season in 2007. She too emphasised that the proximity of the TIC to the car park encouraged visitors to use the TIC and this helped to generate business for attractions across the County.

At the invitation of the Chairman Miss Edwards responded and informed the Committee that she felt that to it was unsuitable to relocate the TIC into the library as it would not be a good place for tourists to visit. She felt that Kington should have a TIC as it served the town and local villages as well as the wider County and Wales. She highlighted the fact that the TIC was staffed entirely by volunteers and that the office had recently completed a refurbishment.

The Cabinet Member (Resources) indicated that the Property Services Manager was in talks with Kington Town Council about the possibility of them purchasing the office currently housing Kington Tourist Group.

A Member suggested that the value of the site where the TIC was currently located was not too expensive. He also felt that Kington Town Council should not have to buy the building from Herefordshire Council as the building was already owned by the taxpayer.

In response to Mrs Bradbury's question, the Interim Head of Economic and Community Services informed the meeting that Herefordshire Council did seek to adopt a co-ordinated approach to its projects as illustrated by the integration of the library and Info shops. The library was being refurbished in order to make it compliant with the Disability Discrimination Act, and space within the new building would be available for use by the local community.

48. COMMUNITY SERVICES PERFORMANCE MONITORING

The Committee was informed of the available performance indicators position and provided with information about current performance monitoring work within the Community Services division of the Adult and Community Services Directorate.

The Performance Improvement Manager reported that with the advent of the new Annual Operating Plan the performance indicators currently used were going to be reviewed.

He explained that all areas within the Community Services division, with the exception of the the CYS, were either performing better than last year or meeting or exceeding their targets. He took the Committee through the report highlighting the success stories and any issues, challenges and concerns as set out in Appendix 1 to the report.

The following are the principal points from the ensuing discussion:

- The target in relation to the reduction of alcohol related crime and disorder, within the Social and Economic Regeneration Section of Appendix 1 to the report, was referred to as a success story. The Committee noted that whilst it was likely that the performance outturn was going to be improved compared to last year's outturn it was still likely that, unless there was a significant reduction in incidents in the final quarter, the outturn figure would exceed its target.
- The Committee questioned whether the indicator relating to Freedom of Information requests within the Parks and Countryside Section of Appendix 1 to the report did not contain any details of Environmental Information Requests or requests made under the Data Protection Act. The Performance Improvement Manager confirmed that the indicator did not contain this information and that he would include it at the next meeting.
- The data in relation to the performance indicator on staff absence within the Parks and Countryside section of Appendix 1 appeared to be incorrect. The Performance Improvement Manager agreed to supply the correct data by e-mail to all Members of the Committee after the meeting.
- The Committee noted that HALO's annual staff survey was carried out by Herefordshire Council.

The Chairman noted the requests made by a number of Members of the Committee for further details on issues contained within the performance monitoring report and appendix and requested that more detailed performance monitoring information be provided at the next meeting of the Committee.

RESOLVED:

That:

- (a) the report on Community Services Performance be noted;
- (b) identified areas of concern continue to be monitored;
- (c) correct details with regard to staff absence within the Parks and Countryside section be provided to the Committee by e-mail;

and;

(d) further detail be included with regard to performance management data in subsequent reports.

49. SCOPING STATEMENT FOR PROPOSED REVIEW OF INDEPENDENT MUSEUMS AND HERITAGE CENTRES

The Committee considered a scoping statement for a proposed review of the support for independent museums and heritage centres in the County.

The Chairman informed the Committee that following a suggestion received from a member of the Committee at its meeting in June 2005 a scoping statement had been drafted for a proposed review of support for independent museums and heritage centres in the County. He commented that there were many items of historical importance in the Council's ownership that could be displayed and suggested that an audit of these artefacts should be a part of the review.

The Interim Head of Economic and Community Services clarified that as well as reviewing the funding for independent museums and heritage centres the review would investigate the Council's own heritage provision.

The Cabinet Member (Community Services) stated that the Museum in Hereford would be expanded when the present library moved to a new site.

A Member of the Committee explained that he thought the way heritage facilities were provided could be changed and that new ways of engaging young people should be sought, particularly so that young people could interact with artefacts rather than be prohibited by the glass display case culture that currently existed.

The Committee decided to appoint five Members to the Review Group: four Councillors and one Co-opted Member.

Three Councillors expressed an interest in serving on the Review Group. It was suggested that a letter be sent to those Members not present seeking a volunteer to take the fourth Councillor place on the Review Group.

RESOLVED:

That:

- (a) the Scoping Statement, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report, for a review of the support for independent museums and heritage centres be agreed;
- (b) Councillor H. Bramer, Councillor A.C.R. Chappell, Councillor J.G.S. Guthrie and Mrs. E. Newman be appointed to serve on the Review Group;
- (c) Councillor A.C.R. Chappell be appointed as Chairman of the Review Group

and

(d) those Councillor members of the Committee not present at the meeting should be invited to express an interest in serving on the Review Group.

COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

FRIDAY, 24TH MARCH, 2006

The meeting ended at 12.02 p.m.

CHAIRMAN

REVIEW OF THE COURTYARD CENTRE FOR THE ARTS

Report By: The Courtyard Review Group

Wards Affected

County-wide.

Purpose

1. To consider the findings of the Courtyard Review Group following the review of The Courtyard Centre for the Arts.

Background

- 2. This Review was requested by Cabinet at its meeting on 17 February 2006 when it meet and considered the findings of the Courtyard Review Group. The report presented the Review Groups findings with regard to the best framework to put in place in respect of the future involvement of Herefordshire Council with the Courtyard. Cabinet requested that this further Review take place to follow up the recommendations made during the original Review and evaluate progress with their implementation.
- 3. At the meeting of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 5th October 2006, the Committee agreed to undertake the review and also agreed the Scoping Statement (terms of reference) and the membership of the 2006 Review Group.
- 4. The Review Group conducted the Review as requested by Cabinet by investigating the success or otherwise of the implementation of its recommendations both at the Courtyard and at Herefordshire Council. Where it considered it necessary the Review Group has made further recommendations for the Committee to consider and recommend to Cabinet.
- 5. The Review Group's report setting out the Groups approach to its task, its findings and conclusions is enclosed separately.

RECOMMENDATION

THAT the Committee considers the report of the Courtyard Review Group and determines whether it wishes to agree the findings for submission to Cabinet.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Courtyard Review Group – Review of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts, January 2005.



Review of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts

Report by The Courtyard Review Group – June 2006

As presented to the Community Services Scrutiny Committee

6th June 2006

- ...Putting people first
- ...Promoting our county
- ...Providing for our communities
- ...Protecting our future

Quality life in a quality county

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Background
- 3. Methodology
- 4. Tour of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts
- 5. How does the Courtyards Business Performance Compare against appropriate Benchmark Venues
- 6. Investigation into the Success or Otherwise of the Implementation of the Recommendations of the Courtyard Review Group
- 7. Herefordshire Council Progress with the Recommendations of the Courtyard Review Group
- 8. Conclusions
- 9. Next Steps
- 10. Summary of Recommendations

Appendices

- 1. Scoping Statement for the Review
- 2. Summary of Recommendations and Suggestions from the first Review of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts
- 3. Summary of Financial Comparison of the Courtyard and Benchmark Venues
- 4. Economic Impact Study
- 5. List of Council Officers Interviewed by the Review Group

1.1 Introduction

- 1.2 The purpose of the Review was to monitor the recommendations and suggestions made by the Courtyard Review Group arising from the Review of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts which reported to the former Social and Economic Development Scrutiny Committee in January 2006.
- 1.3 The Report of the Courtyard Review Group was later accepted by Cabinet who in addition to accepting and amending the Review Group's recommendations requested that the Review Group be reconvened at a later date to monitor progress made with the implementation of the Review Group's recommendations which it had accepted.
- 1.4 The new Review Group was established by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 24 September 2005. Councillor J. Stone was unable to serve on the new Review Group due to being appointed as Vice-Chairman of the Council as well as becoming a Council representative on the Courtyard Trust Board. Councillor H. Bramer, was appointed Vice-Chairman of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee in place of Councillor Stone and was therefore appointed Chair of the Review Group. Councillor M.R. Cunningham joined the Review Group alongside previous Members Councillor Mrs. S.P.A. Daniels and Councillor J.G.S. Guthrie. A copy of the approved scoping statement including terms of reference and membership is attached at Appendix 1.
- 1.5 The Review was undertaken between October 2005 and February 2006 and this report summaries the key findings of the Review and contains recommendations to the Cabinet Member (Community Services).
- 1.6 The Review Group would like to express their thanks to the many people who have presented evidence during the Review. The Review Group would like to express their particular thanks to Martyn Green, Chief Executive of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts and his staff for all of their co-operation and assistance.

2.1 Background

- 2.2 The previous review had made seven recommendations to be implemented by Cabinet and the Courtyard. The report also contained seventeen suggestions for consideration by the Courtyard. A summary of these recommendations and suggestions can be found at Appendix 2.
- 2.3 The first report of the Courtyard Review Group went to Cabinet on 17 February 2005. Cabinet accepted all of the Review Group's recommendations except the recommendations made regarding the length of the new grant.
- 2.4 The original Review had recommended that the Courtyard be awarded a one-year funding deal with the intention that it would investigate a number of income generation activities in order to increase its revenue and thus contribute to the reduction of the overall budget deficit and reduce its reliance on grant funding. The Review Group had

- suggested that if it was considered the Courtyard was doing all it could to improve its income generation then the venue should be awarded a five-year grant.
- 2.5 Cabinet considered this along with evidence from the Arts Council which informed them that if the Courtyard was only awarded a one-year grant then it was likely to have a negative effect on the sise of its grant to the arts centre when its current two-year deal ended on 31st March 2006.
- 2.6 After considering this, Cabinet decided to award the Courtyard with a three-year grant until 31st March 2008. This grant was to reduce by £12,000 per annum in line with the efficiency savings that the Council was expected to make. After discussions with the Courtyard it was decided that the £12,000 reduction should be made proportionately from the Council's revenue grant and the separate Capital Repairs and Maintenance Fund (CRMF). Therefore the revenue grant was reduced by £10,000 and the CRMF by £2,000. This was a one off reduction and the following two years of the grant would increase by inflation. Following these reductions in 2005/06 Herefordshire Council provided the Courtyard with £312,152 in grant funding, including the final installment of a loan payment. The Council also paid £58,000 into CRMF. Money from the CRMF is only paid to the Courtyard after the Council has given its permission for works to take place.
- 2.7 Cabinet also requested that the Review Group be reconvened so that progress with the implementation of its recommendations and suggestions could be monitored. This report is the conclusion of the requested investigation.

3.1 Methodology

- 3.2 In order to complete the Review the Review Group decided that a number of meetings would need to be arranged so that the necessary evidence could be gathered.
- 3.3 It was decided that it would be necessary for the Review Group to visit the Courtyard in order to assess if any physical changes had taken place.
- 3.4 Following the visit the Review Group would then interview senior staff at the arts centre to ascertain what actions had been taken or been considered since the previous review had taken place.
- 3.5 The Review Group had also made recommendations and suggestions for implementation by the Council. Therefore it was considered necessary to meet with various Council Officers to discuss the progress of the recommendations and suggestions accepted by Cabinet in February 2005.
- 3.6 The Review Group also discussed how it was going to complete the benchmarking exercise which was a part of this review. In order to minimise the cost of the Review the Review Group decided to refrain from visiting each venue and requested that a desktop benchmarking exercise be undertaken.

4.1 Tour of the Courtyard Centre for the Arts

4.2 The Review Group visited the Courtyard on 8th November 2005 and received a comprehensive tour of the building from Lucy Wells, Business Development Manager

- and Kate Pedan, Education and Outreach Worker. The Review Group would like to thank Lucy Wells and Kate Pedan for an interesting and informative tour.
- 4.3 The Review Group had last visited the arts centre in October 2004 and on that visit had been concerned to learn about a series of significant problems with the building and its functions. Notably concerning the maintenance of the lift, leaking roofs and health and safety issues.
- 4.4 Following the visit the Review Group was pleased to hear that the aforementioned significant problems had been resolved. All leaks at the time of the previous Review had been repaired, a new lift had been installed and the large patio style windows in the first and second floor offices had now been fitted with safety devices. The Review Group was also pleased to note that a fire exit on the car park facing side of the building had been adapted to form a regular public entrance.
- 4.5 Another success to note was the innovative creation of new office space. A room which was previously used for storage had now been adapted into a two floored office space for the technical team. A new larger storage compartment had been added in the car park at the Courtyard. The relocation of the technical team to the room previously used for storage had allowed the venues marketing team to relocate to a larger office.
- 4.6 On the tour the Review Group were pleased to learn that the Alloy Jewellers Organisation which occupied a room on the top floor of the arts centre was now paying an annual rent of £600 to the venue. The Review Group also learnt that a retail shop franchise had been considered with a local provider but the offer had been considered unviable due to the initial capital outlay and the low levels of revenue which had been offered in return.
- 4.7 The Review Group heard of many other activities that were on going at the arts centre. Perhaps the most significant of these was that talks and plans were at an early stage regarding the possibility of extending the current premises at the Edgar Street site. The Review Group were interested to hear this and would like to be informed of progress with the scheme in the future.
- 5.1 How does the Courtyard's business performance compare against appropriate benchmark venues.
- 5.2 The last Review was criticised by the Courtyard, as it had not engaged with any benchmarking work. Therefore the Review Group decided to compare the performance of two venues identified by the Courtyard at the meeting of the former Social and Economic Development Scrutiny Committee on 22 March 2006.
- 5.3 The venues which the Review Group compared to the Courtyard were the Brewery Arts Centre (BAC), Kendal and the Castle, Wellingborough. The Review Group was informed that the Castle was used as a model when the Courtyard was being developed.
- 5.4 As mentioned earlier, in order to keep the costs of the Review down the Review Group decided not to visit any of the benchmark venues and instead undertook a desktop benchmarking exercise.

- 5.5 Copies of the latest available accounts of the two benchmark venues were acquired from the Charity Commission. These accounts were then passed on to a Council Accountant who analysed and prepared a summary for the Review Group. A copy of this summary can be found at Appendix 3.
- 5.6 The principal points arising from the analysis were:

Note: BAC and Castle accounts were from financial year 2003/04 whereas the Courtyard Accounts analysed were 2004/05.

- The BAC was the largest organisation (turnover £2.2m) the Courtyard second (turnover £1.9m) and the Castle third (turnover £940,000)
- Both the Courtyard and the Castle were owned by their respective local authorities
- BAC was privately owned. This conclusion could be drawn as the BAC has millions of pounds of assets its venue.
- Both benchmark venues made a loss in 2004/05. The BAC lost £53,000 and the Castle £9.000.
- The Castle received the most Local Authority funding, £420,000, the Courtyard received £406,000, and the BAC received £113,000
- The Courtyard received the most funding from the Arts Council, £199,000, the BAC received £148,000 and the Castle received no funding at all from the Arts Council.
- Therefore the Courtyard was the most heavily supported arts centre of the three receiving a total of £605,000 from the Local Authority and Arts Council compared to £420,000 from the Local Authority only at the Castle and £261,000 combined for the BAC.
- Donations were approximately £50,000 at each venue.
- The Courtyard spends £57,000 more on productions (£745,000) compared to the BAC (£688,000). The Castle spent £186,000 on productions. This is likely to be due to the conditions placed on the Courtyard by the Arts Council to be a producing house.
- All three arts centres had current liabilities in excess of their current assets. The Courtyard is the only venue that would have difficulty in repaying its debts as they fell due. The Castle has a large amount of money in the bank (£139,000) and as mentioned earlier the BAC has millions of pounds worth of assets.
- 5.7 The Review Group was also informed of various differences between each of the arts centres trading operations. The principal differences identified from the analysis were:
 - The BAC made a surplus of £200,000, the Castle £18,000 and the Courtyard £8,000
 - Income from admissions was £35,000 higher at the BAC (£713,000) than at the Courtyard (£678,000). Income for admissions at the Castle (£185,00) was £493,000 less than that at the Courtyard.
- 5.8 The above points were noted by the Review Group and led to the further investigation of the Courtyard Trading Company as described later in this report.
- 5.9 The Courtyard provided the Review Group with a summary of differences between each arts centre's trading companies. Most of this information was commercially sensitive but the general differences are summarised below.

- 5.10 The BAC is in the main high street in Kendal, which is a major tourist town near the Lake District. As it is located in the high street the BAC attracts a lot of passing trade many of whom do not use the arts centre, only the trading company facilities, due to a lack of competition generally in the town.
- 5.11 At the Castle the trading company was not a separate company to the wider Trust like at the Courtyard so therefore the catering facilities were not burdened with any overheads like the Courtyard Trading Company. The Courtyard informed the Review Group that if the CTC's overheads were removed then its profitability would increase by £15,000.
- 5.12 On another note, ice cream sales and merchandise sales, which are worth approximately £30,000 a year at the Courtyard, were counted as part of the income figures for the Courtyard Trust rather than the CTC.
- 5.13 The Review Group note that each arts centre and trading company has its own unique set of circumstances, however, the desktop benchmarking exercise proved useful and allowed the Review Group to compare the Courtyard's performance to the other two centres.
- 5.14 The principal conclusion drawn from the exercise was that the Review Group believes that the CTC could significantly increase its income. As a target the Review Group would like to see the CTC turnover be higher than the level of income gained through admissions.
- 6.1 Investigation into the success or otherwise of the implementation of the recommendations of the Courtyard Review Group.
- 6.2 As well as visiting the Courtyard and performing a desktop benchmarking exercise the Review Group met with senior staff from the arts centre and senior staff and a board member from the Courtyard Trading Company. The Review Group met Martyn Green, Chief Executive; Todd Fower, Finance Manager; and Lucy Wells, Business Development Manager on 14th December 2005 and Simon Davies, Head of Catering and Roger Temple, Chairman of the Board of the Courtyard Trading Company on 1st February 2006. It is these interviews which form the basis of the information in this section of the report.
- 6.3 In the Review Group's original report seven recommendations and seventeen suggestions were made. As already mentioned some of these recommendations were aimed at the Courtyard and others at Herefordshire Council. This section of the report will focus on those recommendations and suggestions which were aimed at the Courtyard Centre for the Arts.
- 6.4 The principle recommendation made to the Courtyard from the previous review was: "The suggestions for additional income generation measures and improving financial viability contained in this report are considered and actioned by the Courtyard where they are considered financially viable."
- 6.5 The Review Group investigated how the Courtyard had responded to each of the suggestions made from the previous Review and their findings are detailed below.

- 6.6. On the visit to the Courtyard in October 2005 the Review Group heard that the arts centre had considered establishing a **retail shop** within the building. Investigations had revealed that a £20,000 capital outlay was required to create a secure space within the foyer area. However, it was the revenue costs which were considered most prohibitive by the Courtyard and in particular staffing costs. The Friends of the Courtyard were consulted and felt unable to take on the running of such an operation on a voluntary basis in addition to the other valuable work they already contributed to the Centre.
- 6.7 The Courtyard also felt that they were unlikely to attract the sort of customers who would wish to purchase souvenirs. However, when the Review Group met with the Courtyard management it was revealed that they were keen to develop an arts and crafts style shop selling locally made items and goods which had principally been produced by the arts centre's residents. They felt that a shop could be operated on a franchise basis with a sales commission paid to the Courtyard. The Courtyard was also keen to see a book franchise annexed to the arts and craft shop. These retail proposals were ideas which were to be considered as part of the Courtyard's plans to extend the building, and therefore it could be some time before these ideas came to fruition.
- 6.8 The Review Group were pleased to hear that this suggestion had been considered, however, they were of the opinion that the ideas that the venue were having should be implemented even if the venue was unsuccessful in its plans to extend its current premises with the shop being housed within the current foyer area. The Review Group believe that it would be possible to secure a franchisee who would operate a retail shop in the Courtyard and take the financial burden of the initial capital outlay.

6.9 Arts and Crafts

- 6.10 The Review Group heard that the additional demands of hosting their own **arts and craft fair**, in addition to the annual fair sponsored by the Council, far outweighed the benefits of holding such a fair. The Courtyard reported that the Council sponsored fair took a year to organise and had the support of a dedicated crafts officer to oversee the fair from creation to delivery. The Courtyard could not commit such resources to organising and running their own fair.
- 6.11 The Courtyard felt that the sale of art already contributed a small but key part in its annual turnover. It was hoped that the Arts Council's new 'Own Art' scheme, whereby individuals can borrow money from Arts Council to purchase works of art, would help to increase the number of sales that took place at the Courtyard, where the venue took 15% commission on all works of art sold in its gallery. The Review Group also heard that the Arts Council grant, received to maintain a gallery was likely to provide more income than could be generated through charging hire fees and displaying more works of art.
- 6.12 The Review Group felt that if properly managed it would be possible for the Courtyard to create more income through operating a commercial gallery rather than relying on a grant from the Arts Council. If the Courtyard does not want to lose its grant from the Arts Council for the current gallery space then the Review Group would like to suggest that the Courtyard investigates the possibility of operating a separate commercial gallery in another space within the venue.

6.13 The Review Group also believes that the **sale of art** is something which should be pursued when a retail shop is delivered. The Review Group also felt that signage to the second floor gallery still needed to be improved.

6.14 Cinema

- 6.15 Expansion of the current Cinema activity was another area in which it was believed the Courtyard could raise its income levels. Therefore the Review Group were disappointed to hear that film audiences and consequently film income had dropped considerably in the first eight months of 2005/06 compared to the previous two years.
- 6.16 The table below indicates the audience numbers at the Courtyard in the first eight months of the last three years:

<u>2003/4</u>		<u>2004/5</u>		<u>2005/6</u>	
8 months shows	34,159	8 months shows	42,485	8 months shows	37,216
8 months films	8,940	8 months films	9,410	8 months films	6,235
8 months total	43,099	8 months total	51,895	8 months total	43,451

- 6.17 However, the Review Group heard a downturn in audience figures was a national trend which it was hoped would improve in the latter half of the year.
- 6.18 The Review Group learnt that Cinema figures improved considerably in the latter half of 2005/06. From April to October 2005 only 4,959 cinema tickets were sold. From November 2005 to March 2006 15,489 tickets were sold. This is credited to an improvement in the available film product and the wider distribution of the centre's film brochure. However, even though cinema audience figures drastically improved in the latter half of 2005/06 figures were still down 7% on the previous year.
- 6.19 The fact that the Courtyard sold over 15,000 cinema tickets between November 2005 and March 2006 is an indication of the potential income that can be earned through cinema sales. The Courtyard's position as a cinema provider in Hereford is strengthened as there is little cinema competition in Hereford compared to other cities. This leads the Review Group to conclude that a dedicated cinema space should be pursued as the Courtyard has a captive audience. Once spin off sales of drinks, ice cream and other goods are added together with ticket sales income from cinema could be a huge income generator for the Courtyard. Therefore the Review Group would like to recommend that the Courtyard seeks to develop a permanent cinema space at the centre, even if the venue does not expand, due to the potential high levels of income it could earn.
- 6.20 There was some good news in relation to cinema development at the Courtyard. The Review Group heard that the UK Film Council had donated £60,000 of digital equipment to the venue. This was a part of the development of next generation projection equipment which would see a move away from the traditional 35mm projection equipment. With this new technology the Courtyard should be able to reduce costs and host a more diverse array of films as, in the future, films would not need to be transferred to 35mm film. This could also allow the production of more 'art house' cinema. Venues could therefore save on transportation costs as films could be downloaded from the internet.

- 6.21 Screen West Midlands (SWM) had provided £1,980 to support the Junior Media Club which takes place every Saturday. The Courtyard had also seen its audience development grant from SWM increase from £6,500 to £9,750. This additional income had enabled the Cinema Club to be developed and for a significant piece of audience research to be undertaken.
- 6.22 The Review Group were informed that the long term plan for cinema provision at the arts centre was for a dedicated cinema space to be created as part of the premises extension plan.
- 6.23 The Review Group was concerned to hear that audience figures had declined in the current year but appreciated that it was part of a national trend. The Review Group were pleased that the children's cinema was being encouraged through the development of the Junior Media Club and, that with the aid of a grant of SWM, work was being undertaken to maintain and develop its core cinema business with the Cinema. The Review Group was also pleased to hear that a permanent cinema space was to be pursued within the overall plans to extend the Edgar Street premises. The Review Group believe that a dedicated cinema should be a good income generator for the arts centre, due to the relatively low costs associated with showing films, compared to live performances, and would like the Courtyard to develop a dedicated cinema space even if the centre does not extend.

6.24 Live Music

- 6.25 The Review Group had been informed that Live Music was being developed through partnership work with the Arts Council. The Arts Council were providing the venue with a £16,000 annual subsidy for two years as part of its 'Orchestra Live" programme for middle scale arts centres to host top quality Orchestras. This feature was the showpiece of the Courtyard's annual music programme.
- 6.26 The Review Group were also pleased to learn that the **health and safety** issues with regard to the large patio style doors in the first and second floor offices at the Courtyard had been fitted with safety devices to prevent them opening dangerously wide. Although the Review Group did learn of a new health and safety issue whilst on their tour. The aforementioned offices were prone to leaks during periods of heavy rain which was causing a potential danger to staff due to the high volume of electrical equipment in use in these areas. The Review Group strongly recommends that, if not already solved, this issue be dealt with the highest priority.
- 6.27 On another note the Review Group are pleased to report that the first floor office space at the arts centre is occupied by outside arts organisations who all pay rent to the Courtyard. However, the Review Group feel that the rent these organisations pay should be in line with the current value of a similar space in Hereford City Centre.
- 6.28 In terms of compliance with the **Disability Discrimination Act** the Review Group are pleased to report that the problems with the lift are now resolved. After many years of problems the lift at the Courtyard has now been replaced using funds made available to the Courtyard through the sinking fund.

- 6.29 **Road signage** is still an issue for the Courtyard. The Review Group were disappointed that no new road signs indicating directions to the venue from various routes into Hereford had materialised. Following on from comments made by the Courtyard last year the Review Group would like to emphasise that it is the responsibility of the arts centre, not the Council, to initiate and pay for improvements to road signage.
- 6.30 The Review Group was also pleased to hear that the **Alloy Jewellers** were now paying a rent of £600 to the Courtyard. However, the Review Group felt that this charge was still too low for the facilities provided. The Review Group believe that the rent for the Alloy Jewellers should increase to a fair market rental value in line with the cost of other City Centre workshop spaces and include the real costs of utilities and services or the Jewellers should relocate to another premises and free up much needed office space.

6.31 Sponsorship and Revenue Streams

- 6.32 One of the suggestions from the previous Review was that the Courtyard should do more to raise income through sponsorship and other revenue streams such as the trust fund sector. At the time of the previous Review, Lucy Wells, Business Development Manager had only recently been appointed. The Review Group were pleased to hear that the work of the Business Development Manager was progressing successfully and that a significant sum was raised every year through corporate sponsorship and membership; Friends scheme; trusts and foundations; advertising and other forms of individual giving such as donations and 'sponsor a seat' schemes.
- 6.33 The Business Development Manager is targeted to raise £69,000 a year which includes her own salary.
- 6.34 The most lucrative forms of raising money are Corporate Membership and the Friends Schemes. The Courtyard currently has 19 Corporate Members who are signed up to one of the three levels of Corporate Membership. The Review Group learnt that a new fourth and lower level of Corporate Membership was being developed in order to increase the number of smaller local companies who can associate themselves with the arts centre. Corporate Members often sponsored events at the Courtyard, for example, Bulmers sponsor the successful bi-monthly Comedy Club nights.
- 6.35 In addition to Corporate Members, the Courtyard has also developed around 25 partnership arrangements with local companies who provide benefits in kind to the Courtyard. A good example of this is Peter Nash cars who have provided the Courtyard with a co-branded van.
- 6.36 The Friends of the Courtyard are a great source of income and voluntary assistance for the Courtyard. There are currently over 1,000 Members of the Friends scheme who raise income for the Courtyard through their annual membership fees and through the numerous and varied fund raising schemes which they participated in. The Friends bring in up to £10,000 of much needed funding to the arts centre each year as well as being a willing source of labour through assisting with publicity campaigns and by stewarding performances all on a voluntary basis. The Review Group would like to applaud the Friends for all their hard work which goes towards supporting the Courtyard.

- 6.37 As well as Corporate Sponsorship and the Friends scheme a significant amount of money was being raised by the Business Development Manager through the trust fund sector. The most notable successes to report are:
 - £10,000 from the Sylvia Short Trust over three years to fund free coaches for schools to the arts centre
 - £10,000 from the Clore Duffield Foundation to support a *Poetry In Motion* with schools
 - £10,000 from Arts and Business to fund the development of the Corporate Membership scheme.
- 6.38 The Review Group would like to congratulate the Business Development Manager for the valuable work which she undertakes at the Courtyard with which they were most impressed.
- 6.39 The Review Group was supplied with a copy of an **Economic Impact Study** that was carried out on behalf of the Courtyard by the Arts Council in April 2005. The study, conducted by Professor Dominic Shellard of Sheffield University, showed the impact that the Courtyard has on the local economy by the venue itself and the people who use it.
- 6.40 A table summarising the value added to the local economy by the Courtyard and other arts centres throughout the Midlands including and excluding each venues respective turnover is set out below. A copy of the full report by Professor Shellard is attached at Appendix 4 to this report.

	Formula 1 (excluding turnover)	Formula 2 (including turnover)
The Courtyard, Hereford	£4,172,851	£6,521,004
Ludlow Assembly Rooms	£2,905,798	£3,627,026
The Drum, Aston	£2,619,627	£5,891,997
Old Rep Theatre, Birmingham	£903,444	£972,056
Arena Theatre, Wolverhampton	£724,136	£1,371,741
Arts Alive	£103,856	£255,232

6.41 The Review Group recognise the valuable contribution the Courtyard makes to the local economy and hope that this value continues to increase in the future.

6.42 **Developments to the Premises**

- 6.43 During the tour of the Courtyard the Review Group learnt that plans were being made, and early discussions taking place, with regard to working up proposals to **extend** the Edgar Street premises. This included seeking permission from Herefordshire Council, as the venue's landlord.
- 6.44 To date various applications have been submitted to funding bodies in an attempt to raise an initial fund to undertake a feasibility study. Should these applications be successful a feasibility report should be available sometime during the summer. Courtyard management also met representatives from Advantage West Midlands in December 2005 to discuss the proposal and its regional significance in respect of the development of cultural industries. The Courtyard management was also keen to participate and integrate within the proposed Edgar Street Grid development.
- 6.45 The Review Group were pleased to see the Courtyard being ambitious by seeking to extend the range of activities it has to offer. The Courtyard Trust is still a relatively new organisation which is still carrying a large budget deficit dating back to its conception. Whilst recognising that the venue has the potential to increase income with a larger venue the Review Group are anxious that the Courtyard does not take on too much too soon.
- 6.46 The Review Group heard on a number of occasions that the location of the venue is perceived to be a disadvantage and may be a deterrent to any further developments. However, with proposals for regeneration currently underdevelopment the Courtyard could become more integrated with the city centre.

6.47 Financial Performance

- 6.48 One of the principal concerns of the Review Group is the financial performance of the venue. The Courtyard is currently carrying a budget deficit of £192,047 (made up of £183,000 from the Courtyard Trust and £9,000 from the Courtyard Trading Company). In 2004/05 the business recorded an operating surplus of £117,000, however, £100,000 of this surplus is attributable to a one off grant from Herefordshire Council.
- 6.49 The Courtyard has one final payment of £5,000 to make to Herefordshire Council to fully repay a loan that was used to cover start up costs after the initial building project overspent. When this loan has been repaid, the Courtyard will be free to concentrate on addressing its budget deficit.
- 6.50 When the Review Group met with the Courtyard's Financial Manager in December 2005 they were concerned to be informed that the organisations budget position was approximately £30,000 short of its target. The Review Group were informed at that time that measures were being implemented to address the problems with the aim of at least breaking even for that financial year. The measures being implemented included adapting the second half of the venue's scheduled performance programme to include more mainstream events.
- 6.51 Unfortunately this adaptation in programme was unable to recover the bad start to the financial year and the Review Group are disappointed to report that the Courtyard Trust recorded a deficit of £32,872 in 2005/06. The Review Group are bitterly disappointed

that the Trust has recorded a deficit particularly after it recorded a surplus in the previous two years. It is imperative that the Courtyard begins to consistently return surpluses therefore the Review Group urge the venue to consider additional ways in which the venue can increase its level of additional income generation.

- 6.52 The Review Group are aware that as a registered charity the Courtyard does not exist to produce large profits for corporate shareholders. However, it is the Review Group's firm belief that the venue should at the very least break even each year and in the short term it is essential that the Courtyard return a surplus so that its budget deficit can be addressed. The Review Group applauds the adaptation of the latter half of the venue's annual programme to become more mainstream in order to try to solve the budget shortfall. The Review Group would even like to go as far as to suggest that, at least until the overall budget deficit problem has been addressed, the Courtyard should proceed with a more mainstream programme. A more mainstream programme should hopefully increase revenue and enable the venue to move forward on a sound financial footing after some difficult years. The Review Group has been advised that the venue's programme could become more mainstream without endangering its Arts Council grants and ethos.
- 6.53 Overall the Review Group are keen to see the Courtyard remove itself from its budget deficit position and recommend that strict financial monitoring systems are maintained and that outturn projections are used on a monthly basis in order to help manage cash flow and ensure targets are met or so that alternative plans can be implemented quickly to prevent heavy deficits being recorded.
- 6.54 The Review Group felt that **staff costs** were high at £779,000 within a turnover of £1.9m. In order to help reduce the burden of staff costs on the organisation the Review Group would like to recommend that the feasibility of sharing certain management costs with another charitable organisation, for example HALO Leisure Services Ltd, be investigated. The Review Group anticipate that the cost of certain core commitments such as human resources, procurement and management accounting amongst others, could be shared by two or more charitable organisations in order to drive down costs for each partner.

6.55 Catering – In House

- 6.56 Catering at the Courtyard is the responsibility of the Courtyard Trading Company (CTC). The Review Group recognise that the CTC is a legally separate entity to the Courtyard Trust but also recognise that the performance of the CTC has a significant role to play in the context of the entire organisation.
- 6.57 During the last review the CTC was acknowledged as being one of the principal elements that could be driven to increase income generation. This led to recommendations that the facilities should be carefully monitored to ensure maximum output and that the cost-benefit of franchising the catering operations should be explored.
- 6.58 The CTC consists of a café/bar area on the ground floor of the arts centre and a restaurant which occupies space on the first floor. No separate financial breakdowns of each arm of the CTC were available. Estimates supplied from the CTC suggest that the restaurant only accounts for 20% (approximately £72,000) of the entire CTC's income

- with the other 80% (approximately £288,000) being accounted for by the café/bar on the ground floor.
- 6.59 In 2004/05 the CTC made an operating surplus of £8,018 from a turnover of £391,117. In 2005/06 the Review Group learnt that the CTC was targeted to return a surplus of £20,000. This was considered as 'something to strive for' by the Head of Catering. The Review Group felt that if the CTC returned a surplus of £20,000 then in reality the operation was only breaking even. This is because the Review Group's investigations revealed that the CTC did not pay any rent for its space or facilities within the arts centre nor did it contribute towards any of its on-costs. However, the Review Group was informed that it was the intention that the CTC began to pay rent to the Courtyard Trust in the future. The Review Group welcome this.
- 6.60 This has lead to the CTC undertaking work with Business Link in order to develop the underused restaurant facilities at the arts centre. The work with Business Link has led to the development of a simplified menu and the opening of the restaurant for an extra hour each day which would allow two separate dinner sittings to take place allowing a preperformance supper to take place followed by finer dining later in the evening. The venue was also looking to develop a business lunch and was to begin negotiations with suppliers in an effort to reduce costs.
- 6.61 If catering is to remain in-house the Review Group suggest that closer financial monitoring be undertaken for these different function areas so that better business planning can be implemented, thereby maximising potential income generation.

6.62 Catering – Other Options

- 6.63 The hierarchy at the Courtyard consider the restaurant to be a desirable feature that should be retained, hence their approach to Business Link to try and develop the feature. The Review Group appreciate that the Courtyard wish to retain a restaurant at the arts centre and welcome the input of Business Link and the efforts to increase its productivity. However, the Review Group feel that if the performance of the restaurant area does not improve after the introduction of the new proposals from Business Link or offers for franchising of the functions are deemed not suitable then serious consideration should be given to using the space currently occupied by the restaurant for alternative activities.
- 6.64 In addition to this the CTC Board are currently seeking new members who can bring catering experience at Board level. The Chairman of the CTC recognises that they lack the necessary level of expertise to diagnose and solve the problems they currently face. Therefore the CTC is seeking new Members with experience within the catering industry. The Review Group welcomes the moves the CTC Board are taking to seek new members and wish them every success in their task. The Review Group also note the recent appointment of a new Deputy Catering Manager and hope that the new appointment will bring fresh, sound business ideas and impetus to the CTC.
- 6.65 Franchising of the CTC had not been considered by the Courtyard as suggested in the previous review. The Courtyard has developed a 'once bitten twice shy' attitude towards the franchising of its catering functions. The reluctance stems from problems which occurred when the CTC functions were franchised to the Council in the arts centres early years. Since the end of the first troublesome partnership the venue has sought greater

control of the catering business and helped to develop it as a function to provide facilities to the arts centre's customers. The Review Group believe that the CTC should be able to make a huge contribution to the viability of the entire Courtyard operation with the return of a significant surplus each year which could then be used to reduce the arts centres budget deficit and ultimately reinvested into its core activities. The Review Group believe that the least risky and quickest way to increase the profitability of the CTC would be by franchising out its functions to a commercial operator.

- 6.66 The Review Group strongly believe that a commercial operator would pay more than the CTC targeted surplus of £20,000 for 2005/06 to operate the catering facilities at the Courtyard. The problems experienced with the previous franchisee could be eliminated with contractual clauses which could specifically outline the manner in which the Courtyard would expect the franchisee to operate. To this end the Review Group suggest that the Courtyard invites tenders from commercial catering operators so that an assessment of what commercial operators have to offer can be made in comparison to what the in-house team can offer.
- 6.67 A benchmarking exercise of other comparable arts centres in the UK was undertaken. These were the Brewery Arts Centre, Kendal and the Castle, Wellingborough; both centres were identified by the Courtyard Board in their response to the original review. Whilst the Review Group appreciates the differing sises and locations of the comparable arts centres and the differences in what entails their Trading Companies, the Review Group established that it was possible for an arts centre to generate a great deal of income away from their core arts related activities. For example, both the Brewery Arts Centre's and the Castle's trading companies produced a larger income than each centre generated from its admissions. If this had been the case at the Courtyard the CTC would have had a turnover in excess of £678,000, more than double the amount it turned over in 2004/05. The Review Group have been informed of various differences between each of the three arts centres, but, as illustrated by the benchmark venues, are of the opinion that the CTC should aim for its turnover to be above the level of income gained from admissions. This should enable the CTC to return at least a six-figure surplus into the arts centre.
- 6.68 The Review Group also learnt that other arts centres utilised their Friends Organisations to act as volunteers to staff bar areas. The Review Group suggests that the Courtyard discusses the prospect of this happening in Hereford.

6.69 Car Park

- 6.70 At the outset of this re-review the Review Group were aware that the Courtyard was receiving a lot of negative publicity concerning its Car Park. Car parking charges were introduced at the Courtyard in 2004 to prevent the car park being abused by non-arts centre customers. People would often park their vehicles in the Courtyard's car park all day for free and go off to work or shopping thus preventing the arts centre's genuine customers from using the facility.
- 6.71 The introduction of car parking charges saw an increase in income for the Courtyard to the value of £29,000 in 2004/05. The Review Group welcome this increase in revenue but have learnt that the introduction of car parking charges has had some negative side effects.

- 6.72 Prior to the introduction of car parking charges the café/bar area provided by the CTC on the ground floor of the arts centre had played host to many customers stopping by for coffee as well as informal business meetings. It has been suggested to the Review Group that the introduction of car parking charges was the cause of a decline in the number of visitors to the CTC. This had seen takings for the CTC reduce by approximately £24,000 in 2004/05.
- 6.73 The Review Group were concerned to learn that the CTC had lost customers due to the introduction of car parking charges and would like to suggest a counter measure which could be deployed to attract much needed daytime trade back to the CTC. A possible scheme could be for patrons of the CTC to purchase two parking tickets when visiting the venue. One for the car and one which the patron presents at the time of purchasing food or drink, thereby obtaining a refund of all or part of the parking fee. This system may help to restore the daytime trade for the CTC.
- 6.74 When the re-review was commencing the most contentious issue relating to the Courtyard was the **enforcement arrangements within the car park**. The strict enforcement of parking restrictions had led to a lot of negative press and bad feeling towards the Courtyard.
- 6.75 It is necessary for the Courtyard to enforce parking restrictions for two reasons. Firstly, to ensure that patrons paid for parking and secondly, to prevent breaches of health and safety legislation. Sufficient space needs to be allowed in the car park for emergency services vehicles to be able to access the arts centre in the case of an emergency. Before parking restrictions were introduced many of the routes within the Courtyard car park were blocked by parked cars which would have prevented the access of the emergency vehicles and thus breached health and safety legislation.
- 6.76 The parking restrictions are enforced by Corporate Services, a private company, on behalf of the Courtyard. Corporate Services charges no management fee to the Courtyard for their services, instead they retain all income raised through the issue of penalty charge notices.
- 6.77 The Review Group was pleased to hear about the number of schemes implemented by the arts centre to inform its patrons of the new parking charges and the likelihood of being fined if the terms and conditions of the car park were not obeyed. Measures included sending out information slips with all tickets purchased, signage around the venue and regular announcements prior to the commencement of performances.
- 6.78 The strict and systematic way in which the restrictions were enforced has created an avalanche of negative publicity for the venue, including a number of articles and letters in the local press.
- 6.79 The Review Group appreciate the reasons why the Courtyard has introduced this policy for their car park and has no objections to this taking place. The Review Group also notes the work of the Courtyard in negotiating a reduced rate penalty if fines were paid within 14 days. However, the Review Group feel that the sheer amount of negative publicity created by the enforcement of parking restrictions has been damaging to the venue. The Review Group recommend that in order to regain and retain the goodwill of patrons that different methods of parking enforcement could be introduced.

- 6.80 The Review Group considered four options on how parking restrictions at the Courtyard could be altered to regain the goodwill of customers.
- 6.81 Firstly, the Review Group believes that parking charges in the evenings could be withdrawn. The evenings are when the majority of the Courtyard's patrons will be visiting the centre so the venue's customers would benefit immediately. In the evenings the car park is less likely to be abused as the majority of shops and work places are closed. People who are not visiting the arts centre will not be able to park their car any longer than overnight as car parking charges will begin again the following morning. Those patrons who did not park in designated bays and caused obstacles or prevented access for emergency services vehicles would still be eligible for endorsements. The Review Group accepts that this suggestion will cause a downturn in income for the car park but feel that the benefits which are passed to the customers outweigh this. It would be necessary for the Courtyard to implement a system that prevented abuse of the car park when evening football matches take place at Hereford United across the road at Edgar Street.
- 6.82 The second consideration was introducing a more customer friendly way of enforcing parking restrictions. For instance a parking attendant could issue warnings to first time offenders followed by a fine on the second offence. This system would ensure that parking restrictions are enforced in the long term, as the threat of fining still exists, but would retain the goodwill of customers due to the warning period.
- 6.83 The third consideration was the removal of the onus on the enforcement agency to issue tickets in order to generate income. This again would reduce income on the balance sheet as no doubt a management fee would be payable to the enforcement agency instead. However, the Review Group believe that this cost would be small as the goodwill of customers would be retained as the Courtyard would be able to exert control over the way in which penalty charge notices were enforced and prevent over-sealous enforcement as it would not be necessary for the enforcement agency to issue penalty charge notices to generate their income.
- 6.84 The fourth option which the Review Group considered was the Council's own parking enforcement team taking responsibility for the car park at the Courtyard. This could be done in two ways. Firstly, by the Council's Parking Enforcement Team charging a management fee to the Courtyard. Or, secondly, the Courtyard could lease the car park at the venue back to the Council thereby distancing itself entirely from any future problems experienced by penalised patrons.

Herefordshire Council Progress with the Recommendations of the Courtyard Review Group.

- 7.1 As well as the Courtyard the Review Group also made a series of recommendations for consideration by the Council.
- 7.2 The first recommendation that the Review Group made was that the Courtyard should be awarded a one-year funding deal. The intention of this was to encourage the arts centre to investigate and hopefully implement a number of the suggestions for additional income generation suggested in the original report so that the venue could reduce its budget deficit and its reliance on grants from Herefordshire Council and the Arts Council. At the end of the interim one-year deal, if the Council was satisfied that the arts centre was doing

- all it could to raise money through other means, the Review Group recommended that the centre be awarded a five-year funding deal.
- 7.3 However, when Cabinet considered the Review Group's report on 17 February 2005 evidence received from the Arts Council stating that a one-year funding deal from the Council would seriously affect the Courtyard's grant from the Arts Council, when it was renegotiated later that year, meant that Cabinet awarded the venue a three-year funding deal with the total grant reducing by £12,000 in the first year and then increasing with inflation thereafter. This was in line with the Review Group's recommendation that the Courtyard be required to make efficiency savings in the same manner that was required of the Council itself.
- 7.4 The Review Group was disappointed that its recommendation to award the Courtyard with a one-year funding deal was not implemented but accept the position that Cabinet was in when faced with the stark evidence presented by the Arts Council.
- 7.5 The Review Group was pleased that its other recommendations were accepted by Cabinet and that a further recommendation was added that the Review Group be reconvened so that an assessment could be made on the success or otherwise of the implementation of the Review Group's recommendations and suggestions both at the Courtyard and within the Council.
- 7.6 During the last review the Review Group felt the Education, now Children's and Young People's Directorate was gaining many targeted outcomes from the Courtyard in return for a relatively small input (£31,000). The Review Group felt that this was unfair as the former Policy and Community, now Adult and Community Services Directorate was effectively subsidising the Education Directorate's work at the Courtyard. Therefore the Review Group felt that the Education Directorate should increase its contributions to the Courtyard grant so that it was in line with the level of services it was benefiting from. The intention then was that whatever additional sum the Education Directorate contributed to the Courtyard, a corresponding figure would be reduced from the Policy and Community grant. This sum could then be reinvested in other arts schemes in the County.
- 7.7 The Review Group met with senior Council Officers to discuss progress with this recommendation. A list of Council Officers that were interviewed by the Review Group is attached at Appendix 5.
- 7.8 The Review Group discovered that very limited progress had been made with this recommendation. This was mainly due to a senior management restructure which had seen responsibility for progressing the recommendation switch to a new Directorate and Director.
- 7.9 The Review Group met with Officers from the Children's and Young People's Directorate (C&YPD) to discuss their assessment of the services the C&YPD received from the Courtyard.
- 7.10 The Review Group was informed that the C&YPD provided a wide variety of funding streams to the Courtyard. In 2004/05 the C&YPD provided £39,500 to the arts centre which included funding for:
 - Education and Outreach Worker (£12,000) plus £10,000 for project work

- £1,500 towards a Combined Arts Development Officer
- £5,000 for the Poetry in Motion scheme
- £2,000 for Creativity Conferences
- 7.11 This initial funding attracted £18,000 of matched external funding to the venue.
- 7.12 The Courtyard also received money directly from the County's schools, including:
 - Fairfield and John Masefield High Schools contributed £24,000 towards a Community Arts Development Officer, £12,000 to pay for hires and workshops with the Education and Outreach Worker
 - Sale of tickets to Primary Schools was £34,868 in 2004/05 and up to £37,259 by November 2005.
 - Sale of tickets to Secondary Schools was £6,425 in 2004/05 and was up to £6,296 by November 2005.
- 7.13 It was noted that the use of the Courtyard by schools was increasing. Since subsidised school transport had become available it had helped to reduce costs for both schools and parents which had increased the frequency of school visits.
- 7.14 It was argued that for any further funding to come from the C&YPD money would either have to be diverted from the C&YPD Central Expenditure budget which was set by the Directors of Herefordshire Council or come from a contribution from the budgets of all schools in the County which would require a decision to be made by Herefordshire Schools Forum who may or may not agree with the proposals.
- 7.15 The Courtyard was used to help deliver creativity in the curriculum and the Review Group were informed that Martyn Green should be credited with aiding the development of educational work at the Courtyard.
- 7.16 The Review Group met with the Director of Adult and Community Services who informed them that if the C&YP Directorate was assessed to make a greater contribution to the grant made to the Courtyard from the Council then it was likely that this money would be transferred from the Cultural Services budget when the Directors met to set their annual budgets. Therefore the Review Group's intention that any money saved from the Cultural Services should be reinvested into other arts schemes would not be possible as, in practice, it was unlikely that the Cultural Services budget would gain capacity as the Review Group had originally intended.
- 7.17 Therefore the Review Group were informed that it did not matter which Council Department the grant to the Courtyard was paid from so long as the money was used to deliver the Council's corporate priorities.
- 7.18 One way that the Council's funding to the Courtyard could alter would be by negotiating a single funding deal with the arts centre to meet its various priorities including education. A single funding deal would save Officer time and money as currently two separate deals were negotiated by the Council. The Review Group thought that this was a sensible suggestion and would like to recommend that this be implemented once current funding deals end.

- 7.19 The Review Group would also like to recommend to the Courtyard that schools could be a good daytime target audience for the venue and that further work with schools should be developed.
- 7.20 The Review Group would also like to recommend to the Courtyard that the Business Development Manager seeks further external funding to help fund school transport to the venue as the current funding secured for this purpose appears to be encouraging schools to take advantage of the facilities at the Courtyard.

7.21 Commissioning Agreement

- 7.22 During the last Review the Review Group heard how the next funding deal between the Council and the Courtyard was to be based on a Commissioning Agreement that set clear outcomes and targets for the venue to meet. On the successful achievement of respective targets, which would be monitored on a quarterly basis, the Courtyard would receive a portion of its annual grant.
- 7.23 At the time, the Review Group welcomed this style of funding agreement as it allowed the progress of the Courtyard to be effectively monitored and it retained the ability of the Council to withhold grant payments if targets were not being met.
- 7.24 However, the Review Group was concerned to discover that the Commissioning Agreement between the Council and the Courtyard had not yet been formally agreed due to resource issues within the Council. This means that the Courtyard is receiving funding from the Council but that the targets set out within the Commissioning Agreement are not being monitored and the quarterly monitoring meetings are not taking place as expected.
- 7.25 The Review Group are very concerned that the detailed targets drawn up are not being monitored. The Review Group were informed that the Commissioning Agreement was drafted and ready to be signed by both parties. If not done so already the Review Group would recommend that this is done at the earliest opportunity bearing in mind the following points.
- 7.26 The current Commissioning Agreement is drafted to run until 2010 even though the Council's funding deal with the Courtyard ends in 2008. The Review Group recommend that the length of Commissioning Agreement be altered before it is signed so that it ends at the same time as the funding deal.
- 7.27 Once the current funding deal with the Courtyard ends in 2008 the Review Group would like to recommend that a structured grant scheme aimed at diminishing grants annually, so as to encourage the Courtyard and the Courtyard Trading Company to make positive improvements to their own revenue generation. The Review Group believe that there are significant opportunities to increase income from trading activities. Unless this is approach is adopted the Review Group believe that the lack of financial incentive on the Courtyard could mean little change will occur to any of the current management practices.

8.1 Conclusions

8.2 The Courtyard has made some progress with the implementation of some of the recommendations and suggestions of the first Review.

- 8.3 The Review Group would like to congratulate all the staff at the Courtyard and any other people associated with the venue for their achievements to date.
- 8.4 However, the Review Group still feels that the Courtyard can improve its levels of additional income generation particularly the Courtyard Trading Company. The Review Group believe the potential to provide this additional revenue exists; this potential just needs to be harnessed so that significant results can be delivered.
- 8.5 In addition to increasing its income levels the Review Group firmly believe that the Courtyard could create significant savings by working in partnership with another charitable organisation to share core costs.
- 8.6 Success in delivering increased income levels and reducing costs through the sharing of core costs should enable the venue to eliminate its budget deficit. Once the venue's budget deficit is eliminated the surplus generated from the increased and more efficient operation of the centre can be reinvested into the arts to further develop the excellent work which the Courtyard provides for the whole County.
- 8.7 With regard to the Council's progress with the Review Group's recommendations the Review Group accept the rational that Cabinet used when awarding the Courtyard a three-year funding deal rather than the recommended one-year interim deal.
- 8.8 The Review Group also accept the likely budget transfer that would take place if the Children's and Young People's Directorate was assessed to be responsible for a greater proportion of the Council's grant to the Courtyard.
- 8.9 The Review Group was disappointed to discover that the Commissioning Agreement between the Council and the Courtyard had not been implemented and that monitoring meetings are not taking place in the envisaged format.
- 8.10 In the future the Review Group recommend that the Council have one funding deal with the Courtyard which delivers the Council's corporate priorities rather than separate deals being negotiated across the piece. This corporate agreement should be structured so that the value of the grant diminishes annually in order to encourage the Courtyard to make positive improvements to their own income generation.
- 8.11 Finally, the Review Group would like to thank again all the persons involved in the Review and wish the Courtyard every success in the future.

9.1 Next Steps

- 9.2 The Review Group anticipate that, if approved by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee, this report will be presented to Cabinet for consideration. The Review Group hope that the findings contained in this report will be used to form the basis of any future funding agreement between the Council and the Courtyard.
- 9.3 The Review Group also anticipate that, if the report is approved, the Courtyard acts upon the recommendations and suggestions made in this report (summarised below for convenience). The Review Group recognises the achievements the venue has made to date and still feel that the venue has tremendous opportunity for the future.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS AND SUGGESTIONS

(RECOMMENDATIONS & SUGGESTIONS APPEAR IN ORDER THEY FEATURE IN THE REPORT AND CONTAIN A PARAGRAPH REFERENCE FOR CONVIENIENCE)

The turnover of the Courtyard Trading Company should be higher than the income for admissions at the arts centre. (Para 5.15)

Tenders should be sought for franchisees to operate a retail shop within the current Courtyard Complex. (Para 6.8)

That the Courtyard should investigate the possibility of operating a separate commercial gallery in addition to the current gallery sponsored by the Arts Council. (Para 6.12)

That the Courtyard seeks to develop a dedicated cinema space within the centre even if the venue does not extend. (6.19)

That the leaks in the office space be repaired as soon as possible. (Para. 6.26)

That the outside arts organisations housed at the Courtyard pay a fair market rental value for the space in line with other City Centre Office space including the real costs of utilities and services or be relocated to another premises in order to release much needed space at the Courtyard. (Para. 6.27)

That the Alloy Jewellers housed at the Courtyard pay a fair market rental value for the space in line with other City Centre workshop space including the real costs of utilities and services or be relocated to another premises in order to release much needed space at the Courtyard. (Para. 6.29)

The Courtyard should proceed with a more mainstream programme in order to generate more income to address the budget deficit. (Para 6.52)

That strict financial monitoring systems and maintained and reviewed on a monthly basis. (Para 6.53)

The feasibility of sharing certain core costs with another charitable organisation be investigated. (Para 6.54)

That tenders be invited from commercial catering operators with regard to taking up the operation of the facilities provided by the Courtyard Trading Company. (Para 6.66)

The Friends of the Courtyard be asked about the possibility of them staffing the bar area. (Para 6.68)

That methods be investigated on how to attract customers back to the Courtyard Trading Company during the day including the possibility of refunding car parking tickets. (Para 6.73)

That different methods of enforcing parking restrictions be investigated, including the four possible ways considered by the Review Group. (Para 6.79 – 6.84)

That schools be further targeted as a daytime audience and that further external funding to help with the cost of school transport be sought for when the current funding arrangement ends. (Para 7.19 and 7.20)

The Commissioning Agreement between the Courtyard and Herefordshire Council end at the same time as the current funding arrangements on 31 March 2008. (Para 7.26)

If not already done so the Commissioning Agreement between the Courtyard and Herefordshire Council be signed. (Para 7.25)

That any future funding deals with the Courtyard be negotiated at a Corporate level. (Para 7.18)

That any future funding deals with the Courtyard operate on a structured grant scheme principal with grants diminishing annually for the duration of the deal. (Para 7.27)

Appendix 1

REVIEW:	Courtyard Review Group	
Committee:	Community Services Scrutiny Committee Chair: Councillor Bramer	
Lead support officer:	Gareth Jones – Economic Regeneration Manager later replaced by Jane Lewis – Interim Cultural Services Manager	

SCOPING

Terms of Reference

To monitor progress on the implementation of the Review Group's recommendations approved by the Cabinet on 17 February 2005.

Desired outcomes

- To establish the extent to which recommendations approved by the Cabinet have been considered and implemented to date.
- To ascertain what actions have been undertaken by The Courtyard to consider and take forward suggestions made by the Courtyard Review Group.

Key questions

- Which of the Review Group's suggestions have been implemented to date?
- What actions are proposed to taking forward suggestions not yet implemented?
- What is the current financial position and performance of The Courtyard?
- Has the Courtyard Board determined any other new activities or restructured any of its activities that existed in 2004 in order to generate additional income?
- Is the Courtyard on target to reduce its budget deficit?
- How is the new commissioning agreement between the Council and The Courtyard working?
- What are the results of the Arts Council's economic impact survey?
- What is the outcome of discussions regarding potential funding from the Children's Services Budget?
- How are negotiations with the Arts Council progressing with regard to a new funding agreement from April 2006?
- How does The Courtyard performance compare against appropriate benchmark venues?

Timetable		
Activity	Timescale	
Preparatory Work	October 2005	
Collection of data	October / November 2005	
Undertake site visits as appropriate	October / November 2005	
Report to Community Services Scrutiny	December 2005	
Present options/recommendations to Cabinet	December 2005	
	Support Officers	
Members	Support Officers	
Members Cllr H. Bramer	Support Officers Gareth Jones, Economic Regeneration Manager	
	Gareth Jones, Economic Regeneration	
Cllr H. Bramer	Gareth Jones, Economic Regeneration Manager	
Cllr H. Bramer Cllr J. Guthrie	Gareth Jones, Economic Regeneration Manager	
Cllr H. Bramer Cllr J. Guthrie Cllr Mrs S.P.A. Daniels	Gareth Jones, Economic Regeneration Manager	

Appendix 2

Summary of Recommendations & Suggestions Made by the Courtyard Review Group – January 2005

Original Recommendations

- 20.2 The Council's financial contribution to The Courtyard should not be exempt from any efficiency savings being made within the Policy & Community Directorate.
- 20.3 The Education Directorate are invited to assess the benefits provided by The Courtyard to their service area and consider contributing a higher level of funding which is more representative of the value of service received in order to reduce the current onus on the Policy & Community Directorate.
- 20.4 The suggestions for additional income generation measures and improving financial viability contained in this report are considered and actioned by The Courtyard where they are considered financially prudent.
- 20.5 The Courtyard is offered an interim 1-year funding agreement from March 2005, while proposals for additional income generation and improved financial viability are progressed. *
- 20.6 The Courtyard be invited to report back to the Social and Economic Development Scrutiny Committee in November 2005 to provide an update on the organisation's financial position and progress on addressing the suggestions and recommendations raised in this report.
- 20.7 On receipt of a satisfactory report, The Courtyard is offered a 5-year commissioning agreement in April 2006. *
- 20.8 At the end of the 1-year agreement if the recommendations have not been satisfactorily addressed, then a further 1-year period should be considered, to give The Courtyard further time to demonstrate its proposals for improved financial viability. *
- * Not accepted by Cabinet. Courtyard awarded a three-year funding agreement less £12,000 efficiency savings (see attached decision notice).

Suggestions Made by the Review Group in Final Report

- 1. Courtyard should establish the feasibility of a retail shop.
- Catering should be regularly reviewed to ensure income generating potential is maximised.
- 3. Cost-benefit of franchising catering should be explored and assessed.
- **4.** Exploration of feasibility and possible funding of a dedicated cinema should be investigated.

- **5.** The screening of children's films in the schools holidays should be developed.
- **6.** The Trust Fund sector should be explored for further funding.
- **7.** Full utilisation of Friends organisation with support of Courtyard Trust in terms of fund raising and volunteers.
- **8.** Live music market could be further developed.
- **9.** Income could be generated from the sale of arts related goods. Could hold an arts related design & craft show (in addition to Herefordshire Contemporary Crafts Fair). Plus generate commission from sale of exhibited paintings and photographs.
- **10.** Analysis of footfall and usage of building at different times suggested as a means of assisting process of maximising efficiency of space in the building.
- **11.** Evaluate business case of taking on additional office space away from the Courtyard to free up space in the main building.
- 12. Review possibility of taking a rental contribution from Alloy Jewellers.
- 13. Review possibility of securing additional funding for expansion of the Courtyard.
- **14.** Review location and signposting to the second floor gallery and that options for generating further income from the sale and display of work are explored.
- 15. Results of Economic Impact Survey.
- **16.** Overcoming of health and safety and DDA issues. For example, lift and large opening windows in staff offices.
- 17. Road signposting to the Courtyard should be improved.

	Courtyard 2004-05	Castle 2003-04	Appendix 3 Kendal 2003-04
Trading Account			
Incoming resources for year	107,487	-9,127	-53,553
Add: Net restricted funds	9,646	16,265	-90,475
	117,133	7,138	-144,028
less one-off grant from council / Investment income	100,000		46,917
Real' in-year trading profit	<u>17,133</u>	14,276	-97,111
<u>Income</u>			
Admissions	678,098	184,739	712,873
Hire's	101,423	61,394	19,945
Education & outreach	30,933	-	-
Sundry income	26,983	17,572	22,174
Brewery support fund	-	-	8,041
Car Parks	-	-	46,292
	837,437	263,705	809,325
<u>Grants</u>			
Council and other bodies	406,295	420,899	113,255
Arts Council Regional	158,909	-	141,655
Arts Council and other	39,653		6,049
	604,857	420,899	260,959
Donations & sponsorship & Fundraising	50,466	48,441	50,574
trading income	391,117	206,559	1,077,957
other income	344	171	0
Total Income	1,884,221	939,775	2,198,815
Expenditure			
Sales & Marketing	136,503	117,316	131,235
Cost of productions	744,707	185,655	687,678
Education & Outreach	35,158	-	-
trading operations	383,099	188,902	795,384
Expenditure - support / overheads / mgt/ admin			
Staff	264,499	310,221	357,400
Office costs	29,966	6,182	27,576
Utilities / rent / rates	35,551	39,951	67,409
repairs	29,506	7,152	105,261

depreciation	25,405	2,915	97,119
leases	5,964	2.100	0.407
training & recruitment	14,430	3,180	8,407
Security	22 171	18,940	2,505
Insurances Other Costs	22,171 43,312	11,229	41.001
	6,463	41,738 15,521	41,091
Other Management & Admin Expenditure on restricted funds not itemised	0,403	13,321	-68,697
Total Support costs	477 267	457.020	
Total Support costs	477,267	457,029	638,071
Total Expenditure	1,776,734	948,902	2,252,368
Balance Sheet			
Fixed Assets	138,021	68,776	4,417,865
Investments			237,218
Current Assets			
Stock	12,000	10,450	16,800
Debtors	52,811	87,100	54,851
Cash	4,751	139,337	59,739
	69,562	236,887	131,390
Current Liabilities			
Creditors	-366,758	-262,556	-367,914
Net Current liabilities	-297,196	-25,669	-236,524
Total Assets less current liabilities	-159,175	43,107	4,418,559
Creditors falling due after 1 year	0	-15,516	-27,567
Total Assets less Liabilities	-159,175	27,591	4,390,992
Funds		_	
Unrestricted Funds	-167,357	-11,174	1,035,727
Restricted Funds	23,800	16,265	3,355,265
Non-Charitable trading Account	-15,618	- 3,2 32	- ,- c c ,- c c
Revaluation reserve	10,010	22,500	
	-159,175	27,591	4,390,992
	107,110	<u> </u>	-190709772

	Appendix 4
Economic impact study of West Midlands theatre	
Dominic Shellard, University of Sheffield	
April 2005	

Contents

A(eknowledgements	2	
In	troduction		3
Ex	xecutive summary	4	
	ey findings	7	
1	Research for the West Midlands study	7	
2	Methodology		Ģ
3	Results of the West Midlands study		10
4	Calculation of economic impact	12	
5	Number of volunteers in the West Midlands theatre sector		14
6	Recommendations for future work		16
Aı	opendix A West Midlands economic impact study responses	17	
Aj	opendix B Calculation of economic impact of West Midlands venues not included in the <i>Economic Impact Study of UK Theatre</i>	18	

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people for their help and support in the undertaking of this study.

Derrick Elliss FCA: the project accountant, and my collaborator

The University of Sheffield

Julie Eaglen, Arts Council England West Midlands

Dominic Shellard

Introduction

Theatre in the United Kingdom is admired throughout the world for its quality and creativity. The excellence of its plays, actors and performances are unrivalled.

This study of West Midlands theatre builds on the work of the *Economic Impact Study of UK Theatre* (Arts Council, 2004), which was the first national study of the contribution that theatre makes to the local and national economy. It established that the economic impact of UK theatre was £2.6bn: £1.5bn coming from London theatre and £1.1bn from regional theatre.

The impact of regional theatre had previously been undervalued and this new study – of the economic impact of West Midlands theatre – further highlights the fact that regional theatre is economically as well as artistically vibrant.

It also represents extremely good value for money. The total revenue investment from public sources to produce the figures shown on the following pages amounted to a little over £25 million: £18.9 million from Arts Council England, and some £6.1 million from the local authorities of the West Midlands.

Executive summary

Overall economic impact

Theatre in the West Midlands has a significant economic impact – it is worth at least £148 million annually. This is a conservative figure. It does not include, for instance, the impact of individual touring theatre companies or non building-based theatre activity.

Data for this study were collected from 22 venues. These include commercially-run theatres, venues run by local authorities and subsidised theatres.

Key components of this economic impact figure are:

1 spending by theatre audiences: in particular food bought outside the theatre, transport costs to get there and back, and necessary childcare costs

The study also takes into account spending by theatres, notably:

- 2 expenditure on staff (including actors, directors and other creative team members) and goods and services
- 3 subsistence allowances to freelance staff to enable them to stay in the area while a project is under way. This generates important income for local landlords and hoteliers

A more comprehensive formula also includes:

- 4 income generated by theatres: including ticket sales, sponsorship, grants, donations, programme and refreshment sales, merchandise and catering sales
- 5 income generated by working overseas: the fees received by sending productions abroad or any sponsorship or grants relevant to that work

In which case the figure rises from £145m to £264m.

Economic impact of West Midlands theatre

As part of this study, six theatres underwent an exercise looking at their local economic impacts. Their individual impact – excluding turnover – is as follows:

The Courtyard, Hereford £4,172,851

Ludlow Assembly Rooms £2,905,798

The Drum, Aston £2,619,627

Old Rep Theatre, Birmingham £903,444

Arena Theatre, Wolverhampton £724,136

Arts Alive £103,586

Each theatre makes both direct and indirect contributions to the local economy. The direct impact is local spending on purchasing supplies; and wages paid to staff who live

locally. The indirect impact is the 'knock-on' effect generated by the direct impact, where spending money leads to more money being spent. When theatres purchase supplies from a local company, that income helps the company pay wages to its staff who then use it to buy other goods. All that expenditure is constantly circulating around the local economy, helping to preserve jobs, and boost economic growth.

The additional visitor spend (AVS) also demonstrates how audience spending can make a significant difference to the local economy. By attracting people into an area – where they might eat out, spend money on transport or buy local produce – theatres help sustain jobs, generate additional economic activity and act as forces for economic and social regeneration.

Report findings

West Midlands theatre has a significant economic impact: at least £148m annually.

This is a conservative figure. It does not include, for instance, the impact of touring theatre companies or non building-based theatre activity. This huge impact is generated by a minimal amount of public subsidy: for example, £18.9m from Arts Council West Midlands and £6.1m from the various local authorities of the West Midlands.

The Royal Shakespeare Company (RSC) accounts for 43% of this impact.

West Midlands theatre has considerable impact on local economies, both in terms of direct spending on goods and services and in terms of visitor spending. Taking additional factors into account, the full economic value of West Midlands theatres is £264m annually.

West Midlands theatre is a popular area for volunteering. There are about 1700 volunteers working in West Midlands theatre.

Recommendations

- 1 encourage individual venues to include economic impact studies in their annual reports on a three-yearly basis
- 2 devise an impact formula for touring theatre

Key conclusions

- 1 the theatre sector has not yet developed a framework for establishing its impact
- 2 both the national *Economic Impact Study of UK Theatre* (Arts Council, 2004) and this study have encouraged individual theatres to carry out their own studies
- 3 the study has commanded significant sector support

Key findings

1 Research for the study

1.1 Previous economic impact studies of theatre

In May 2004 the *Economic Impact Study of UK Theatre* (Arts Council England, 2004) was published. This was the first economic impact study of national theatrical activity and was undertaken with the full support of SOLT, TMA, ITC and Arts Council England, Arts Council Wales and the Scottish Arts Council. It calculated that theatre contributed £2.6bn to the UK economy and provided a formula for the calculation of impact which has been subsequently taken up by a large number of theatre organisations.

Previous impact studies of arts activity had been characterised by a large variation in impact formulas and one aim of the 2004 study was to produce a formula which the theatre sector could use on a consistent basis.

This report is one of a series which have been produced since the publication of the 2004 study (e.g. Hull Truck Theatre, Palace Theatre, Mansfield, Corn Exchange, Newbury). It is clear that the theatre sector welcomes the ability to compare impact study findings on a like-for-like basis.

1.2 Definition of economic impact

As with the national study, this report uses two main ways of defining economic impact. The first formula defines economic impact as being purely what a theatre contributes to the local and national economy and ignores turnover and overseas earnings.

Formula 1: Calculating the economic impact of theatre venues excluding turnover

(Additional visitor spend + salaries + subsistence allowances + goods and services expenditure) x a multiplier of 1.5

(The multiplier takes into account the knock-on effect in the local economy.)

Formula 2 can be used to define economic impact as the total economic activity generated by a theatre (in other words, what economic activity an area would lose

in total if the theatre was not there). This second, more comprehensive formula, also includes turnover (income).

Formula 2: Calculating the economic impact of theatre venues

including turnover

(Turnover + overseas earnings + additional visitor spend + salaries + subsistence allowances + goods and services expenditure) x a multiplier of 1.5

(The multiplier takes into account the knock-on effect in the local economy.)

Including turnover in this formula establishes the scale of the economic activity related to the theatre, and economic impact is viewed as inputs and outputs, rather than profit and loss. So, for example, turnover is made up of money from customers, funders and businesses, and produces a specific economic effect, while a theatre's expenditure on wages and supplies produces a completely separate economic effect. It is not a strictly linear model.

This defines economic impact as what a theatre contributes to the local and national economy.

This study would ideally like to employ this wider formula, which includes turnover. However, because it was not possible to collect sufficient data from SOLT organisations for the national study – through no fault of their own – it has been decided to employ formula 1 to calculate the headline figure for economic impact. However, it should be noted that if the national survey is repeated in 2007 and if sufficient data from SOLT were to be obtained in the future, a recalculation could be made, which would produce a larger figure for the overall economic impact of both UK theatre and West Midlands theatre.

To give an indication of the difference that the two formulas make, both formulas have been employed in the calculation of the individual impact of the five West Midlands venues not previously included in the national study. These calculations can be found in Appendix B.

Both formulas employ multipliers. Multipliers are used in impact studies to take into account the knock-on effect of spending by the theatre throughout the local economy. To ensure that this study produces a viable but cautious result, a multiplier of 1.5 has been used, the smallest that is realistically possible.

2 Methodology

Questionnaires were devised to collect the following information from individual venue-based organisations for the 2002/03 financial year:

- 1 turnover
- 2 overseas earnings
- 3 additional visitor spend (an estimate of what an audience member spends on food, transport and childcare)
- 4 salaries
- 5 subsistence allowances paid
- 6 goods and services bought

A list of venue-based organisations was compiled from information held by Arts Council England West Midlands to define the parameters of the region.

The questionnaires were distributed from August 2003 to 492 UK venue-based organisations (excluding SOLT members) and were returned between August and December, 2003. Relevant data for the West Midlands theatres were then extracted. A number of new venues were also approached between January 2005 and March 2005 to produce additional data, which were not available to the national study. The total list of respondents appears in Appendix A.

In addition to the research for the national study, several activities were undertaken to create a good awareness of the West Midlands study and to generate the highest possible response rate. These included:

- 1 the distribution of questionnaires via hard copy and email (where appropriate) (January-March 2005)
- 2 the publicising of the study through Arts Council England West Midlands (January 2005)
- 3 the sending of email reminders (February/March 2005)
- 4 telephone reminders (February/March 2005)

3 Results of the study

3.1 West Midlands Theatres

Economic data were collected from 22 venue-based organisations out of a total sample of 26. This represents an 85% response rate.

The following results from the venue-based organisations were used to calculate impact.

Table 1: The data returned by the 22 responding venue-based organisations

Venues supplying data (22)	£
Additional visitor spend	28,148,470
Salaries	32,327,193
Subsistence allowances	874,450
Goods and services	33,941,706
Total (for 22 venues)	95,291,819

Additional visitor spend is expenditure on transport, food and drink, and childcare, incurred by audience members as a result of a visit to the theatre.

The total AVS per venue was calculated by taking the mean (average) AVS per head as stated by the venue, i.e. £10–15 produces a mean of £12.50, then multiplying this by the number of tickets sold in the year.

The results on additional visitor spend demonstrate how audience attendance can be significant for the local community. By attracting people into an area – where they might dine out, spend money on transport or buy local produce – theatres help sustain jobs, generate additional economic activity and act as forces for economic and social regeneration.

Four venues did not respond to the questionnaires, but will still have an economic impact that needs to be factored in. Because all the major venues took part in the study, however, it is **not** appropriate to scale up the figures pro rata.

Therefore, the following cautious method of calculation was adopted for non-responding venues.

Table 3: The calculation of the 'return' of the four non-responding venues

Average return for non-responding venues in 2004 national study	£885,953
Plus inflation based on RPI for March 2003 and March 2004 (2.5%) x 4 venues	£3,632,407

4 Calculation of economic impact

The economic impact of West Midlands theatre can be calculated as follows:

<u>Using Formula 1: The calculation of the economic impact of West Midlands theatre</u>

(AVS, Salaries, Subsistence Allowances, Goods and Services + Non-Responding Venues' Impact) x 1.5	£148m
(£95,291,819 + £3,632,407) x 1.5	

The RSC represents 43% of this figure.

Theatre in the West Midlands generates a significant economic impact. This reflects the vibrancy of theatre throughout the whole of the UK and is a very healthy balance. It also counters the perception of a sector dominated by theatrical activity in London.

The economic impact of West Midlands theatre is therefore £148m.

However, it should be noted that if we employ a formula that includes turnover (see Formula 2, page 8), the total for West Midlands theatre rises to £264m.

This is calculated in the following way:

Table 5: The data returned by the 22 responding venue-based organisations, *including* turnover

Venues supplying data (22)	£
Turnover	74,376,259
Overseas earnings	589,000
Additional visitor spend	28,148,470
<u>Salaries</u>	32,327,193
Subsistence allowances	874,450
Goods and services	33,941,706
Total (for 22 venues)	170,257,078

To take into account the non-responding venues, the following calculation was made:

Table 6: The calculation of the 'return' of the four non-responding venues, for the calculation of impact *including* turnover

Average return for non-responding venues in 2004 study	£1,452,968
Plus inflation (2.5%) x 4 venues	£5,957,169

The economic impact of venue-based organisations including turnover was therefore calculated as follows:

Using Formula 2: The calculation of the economic impact of West Midlands theatre: venue-based, *including* turnover

West Midlands venue-based	
$(170,257,078 + £5,957,169) \times 1.5$	£264m

The RSC represents 44% of total

5 The number of volunteers in the West Midlands sector

Organisations were asked to report on the number of volunteers who worked at their venues.

The responses showed that there are circa 1700 volunteers working in the West Midlands theatre sector.

This was calculated in the following way. 22 responding venues reported 1435 volunteers, an average of 65 per venue. This would give the four non-responding venues approximately 260 volunteers, producing a total of circa 1700 volunteers.

The number of volunteers in the West Midlands theatre sector represents a significant 'invisible' contribution by theatres to their local economies.

6 Recommendations for future work

There has been widespread sector support for this study.

To capitalise on this enthusiasm for relevant economic impact studies – and to address the concern that up until now, economic impact studies have not adopted a consistent methodology for calculating impact – the following recommendations are made for future work:

- individual organisations in the West Midlands should be encouraged to undertake economic impact studies using a consistent formula for inclusion in their annual reports on a three-yearly basis
- 2 touring theatre and outdoor theatre make a contribution to economic impact but were outside the remit of this study. An impact formula needs to be devised to assess their contribution, while ensuring that the danger of doublecounting is avoided

Appendix A

Economic impact study responses

There were 22 responding venue-based organisations in the West Midlands (sorted by turnover, in descending order):

Royal Shakespeare Company

Birmingham Hippodrome Theatre Trust

Birmingham Repertory Theatre

Grand Theatre, Wolverhampton

Belgrade Theatre

Warwick Arts Centre

Midlands Arts Centre

Malvern Theatres

New Vic Theatre, Newcastle-Under-Lyme

The Drum, Aston

The Courtyard Theatre, Hereford

Birmingham Alexandra

The Music Hall, Shrewsbury

Ludlow Assembly Rooms

Arena Theatre, Wolverhampton

Library Theatre, Solihull

Oakengates Theatre, Telford

Live and Local

Black Country Touring

Worcester Arts Workshop

Arts Alive

Old Rep Theatre, Birmingham

Appendix B

Calculation of the economic impact of the West Midlands venues not originally included in the *Economic Impact of UK Theatre*:

	Formula 1 (excluding turnover)	Formula 2 (including turnover)
The Courtyard, Hereford	£4,172,851	£6,521,004
Ludlow Assembly Rooms	£2,905,798	£3,627,026
The Drum, Aston	£2,619,627	£5,891,997
Old Rep Theatre, Birmingham	£903,444	£972,056
Arena Theatre, Wolverhampton	£724,136	£1,371,741
Arts Alive	£103,856	£255,232

Appendix 5

Council Officers Interviewed by the Courtyard Review Group – 15 November 2005

Natalia Silver – Cultural Services Manager Greg Evans – Principal Accountancy Manager Geoff Hughes – Director of Adult and Community Services Jon Ralph – Community Youth Service Manager Ted St. George – Head of School Effectiveness Paul Murray – General Inspector Colin Birks – Property Services Manager

PRESENTATION BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL ON THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME AREA

Report By: Leader of the Council

Wards Affected

Countywide

Purpose

1. To receive a presentation from the Leader of the Council to advise Members of the annual activity in the Economic Development programme area within Herefordshire.

Financial Implications

2. None.

Background

- 3. This report summarises the key economic development issues which the Council has engaged with over the year.
- 4. **Rotherwas Futures -** Report commissioned by Advantage West Midlands (AWM) and South Wye Regeneration Company to provide framework for future development on the Rotherwas Industrial Estate. Draft report finished which investigates development constraints, potential development sites, management issues, and the funding package. Waiting for decision on Local Transport Plan funding to establish exact position regarding funding. Potential to enter into a Joint venture agreement with AWM to progress the proposals.
- 5. **Rotherwas Access Road -** Planning permission gained, CPO orders handed out, waiting a decision from the DTI regarding the Local Transport Plan funding. Decision expected by mid to late June, scheme within top priority category in West Midlands.
- 6. **RRZ Enterprise Centres** The Rural Regeneration Zone (RRZ) have signed an agreement with Evans Easy Space to provide three enterprise centres in the County. The centres will be provided on a Hub (Hereford) and spoke (Leominster and Rosson-Wye) system with management for the three sites to be co-ordinated from Hereford. Sites identified in Rotherwas, for Hereford, and on Leominster Enterprise Park, still investigating a site in Ross on Wye. Anticipate that all three centres to be finished within next two years. Will provide managed workspace, small starter offices, and suitable support systems.
- 7. **Hereford City Centre Projects -** Spring/summer 2005 saw the refurbishment of Eign Gate, with lighter coloured paving, feature areas of paving down the centre of Eign Gate and outside All Saints Church, and new lights and trees. Overall, the scheme has been very successful in achieving its objectives and delivering within budget.
- 8. Early this year, following on from the Eign Gate scheme, part of High Street was also repaired.

- 9. In April 2005 work started on options for refurbishing the rest of Hereford city centre, following the Council's announcement that £2 million would be made available for this work. Two public consultation events have been held, the contract for re-paving let, and work in High Town started in May.
- 10. Strategy/Business Support The updated economic development strategy will be published shortly, but actions arising from it, such as improving communications between organisations supporting businesses, are already taking place. The Council continues to deliver a property finding service for business, a business start-up grant and advice on possible availability of grants or other assistance for businesses. The property finding service had 177 enquiries and 55 start-up grant applications were successful.
- 11. **Shop Front Grants** The Kington and Bromyard schemes have now been completed, finishing at the 31 March 2006. Bromyard achieved 12 shops supported over the life of the scheme, levering in significant private investment. Kington achieved 11 shops supported over the 12-month scheme.
- 12. Leominster is now into its second year with 8 shops being offered grants. Ross has seen unprecedented numbers of shops applying for the grant. So far, Ross has offered 13 shops grants with 2 applications pending.
- 13. All the above schemes have been supported through the Market Towns Initiative.
- 14. Hereford City's scheme is supported through the Council's Capital Programme. It has offered grants to 19 shops. The scheme is scheduled to finish in March 2008.
- 15. **Ross New Trader Support Grant** This scheme is being piloted in Ross-on-Wye, where, at the time of the request for support had some 21 shops vacant in the Town Centre. The basis of this scheme is a rate relief scheme to give new traders a helping hand in the first few months of their business life. It equates to £750 or three months equivalent business rates whichever is the lesser.
- 16. It was launched on 1 October 2005 and is due to finish on 30 September 2006. If the scheme shows some demonstrable benefit to Ross then there is a hope that it may be rolled out to other Market Towns. The scheme has supported 3 shops so far, to the value of £1693.86. Further publicity has just been undertaken.
- 17. **Leominster Enterprise Park** The site is currently owned by Advantage West Midlands (AWM) and has been developed with the new Leominster Industrial Estate Access Road. A number of plots have been allocated on the Eastern side of the Leominster Enterprise Park, discussions are also underway on a number of other plots:
 - Lancroft Developments have purchased plots 1 to 6 and planning permission has been given to build the first phase of the development. Construction is expected to start late summer. Lancroft have commissioned a local estate agent to market the units.
 - The Bulmers Foundation and the AWM Food & Drink Cluster Team are leading on a project to provide food & drink incubator facilities on the Park. These are medium to short term-let food processing units with purpose made kitchen/ processing facilities.

- West Mercia Police have been allocated an extended plot 13. Planning permission has been agreed and contracts have been exchanged. A start on site date is provisionally set for the end of July 2006 to coincide with judicial review, but this may be brought forward.
- The proposed RRZ Enterprise Centre 'spoke' is due to be situated on plots 9 and 10.
- Whilst significant progress is being made on these key projects the County continues to face a number of challenges. The County has low levels of unemployment but income and skill levels remain low and these areas will be priorities for the next 12 months. AWM is revising the regional Economic Development Strategy which will play a key role in helping the County to address these issues.
- 17. Significant progress has been made over the year in taking forward the exciting strategic proposals for Edgar Street Grid. The Council has worked closely with AWM and as commenced acquisition of key plots of land on the site. A board for the Edgar Street Grid Company has been established under the leadership of Clive Richards and a Chief Executive has been appointment to lead the projects delivery.

RECOMMENDATION

THAT, subject to any comments that the Committee may have, the report be noted.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None Identified

PREPARATIONS FOR THE THREE CHOIRS FESTIVAL

Report By: Cultural Services Manager (Interim)

Wards Affected

Countywide.

Purpose

1. To update Members on the work undertaken to promote the Three Choirs Festival in Hereford in August 2006 and the work undertaken to raise the profile of the Festival.

Financial Implications

2. None at the present time.

Consideration

- 3. As part of the marketing campaign to promote the County, the Three Choirs Festival was included within the campaign information and we generated 1,600 responses for the Festival flyer. Herefordshire Tourism posted out the flyer with the main Herefordshire visitor guide that includes accommodation.
- 4. The shortage of overnight accommodation within the City is a real issue and we are working with accommodation operators outside the City with an aim to get people staying in the County and not in areas outside Herefordshire. Tourism accommodation operators in the north of the County are keen to link in with the Festival and possibly arrange transport from their accommodation and evening meals within their establishments.
- 5. The Tourist Information Centre are receiving a number of telephone calls for accommodation and are proactively booking accommodation within the City and outside the City for the Festival. An issue that has been raised from a recent article within the newspaper was the inference that there was no accommodation at all in Herefordshire and this has raised issues with local operators who do have rooms available. This article was generated from the accommodation booking office within the Festival and it has been unfortunate because people are not receiving correct information on accommodation availability.
- 6. Local restaurants have been contacted with regards to their opening hours during the festival and there has been no positive feedback with regard to the options of offering packages for tickets and dinner to the Festival.
- 7. Three Choirs have organised car parking and additional toilets during the festival.

Future Considerations

8. The Tourist Information Centre could in future act at the booking centre for accommodation for the Festival.

RECOMMENDATION

THAT, subject to any comments Members wish to make, the report be noted.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None Identified

PROPOSED REVIEW OF HEREFORD CITY PARTNERSHIP

Report By: Interim Head of Economic and Community

Services

Wards Affected

Countywide

Purpose

1. To consider a scoping statement for the proposed review of Hereford City Partnership.

Financial Implications

2. None at present.

Background

- 3. A number of new initiatives are developing at a pace in Hereford City and coming to fruition and in relation to those changes and challenges and a review of Hereford City Partnership is considered timely. Herefordshire Council is one of several partners supporting the City Partnership. The intention is to work with those partners to review the purpose, management and work programme of the Partnership to ensure that best value for the investment made by partners is being received. The intention is for a short, intensive review, very focused in it purpose and outcomes.
- 4. A suggested scoping statement for the review, which includes the proposed terms of reference for the review, is attached at Appendix 1
- 3. If the Committee decide to approve the scoping statement and terms of reference for the Review it is suggested that the Committee appoint four Members to complete the Review plus invite one Member of Hereford City Council, one representative from the private sector and one representative from the retail sector.

RECOMMENDATION

- THAT (a) the Scoping Statement for a review of Hereford City Partnership be agreed subject to any amendments the Committee would like to make;
 - (b) the Committee consider the membership of the Review Group;and;
 - (c) the Committee appoint a Chairman of the Review Group.

COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

6TH JUNE 2006

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None Identified

REVIEW:	Review of the Hereford City Partnership	
Committee:	Community Services Scrutiny Committee	Chair: Councillor Chappell (TBC)
Lead support officer:	Clare Wichbold, Regeneration Co-ordinator	

SCOPING

Terms of Reference

Specifically this review will cover:

- An understanding of the purpose and objectives of the City Partnership and the work of the City Partnership Officer
- To assess the management arrangements and decision making process
- To review the work programme and strategic plan

Desired outcomes

- To gain an understanding of the role of the City Partnership
- To outline a shared, strategic vision for Herefords City
- To ensure the Council's support is used to best value and fulfilling the corporate objectives
- To work with partners on an agreed way forward in relation to new initiatives coming to fruition in the City and the activities of new emerging groups
- To look a method for performance management, with specific targets, milestones and outcomes

Key questions

- What is the role of the City Partnership?
- How does the partnership work and make decisions?
- What are the funding arrangements for the partnership and is there opportunity for additional external funding?
- What is the work programme for the year in relation to the activities of the City Centre Manager?
- How does the mutual support and understanding of partners operate are there a shared or conflicting objectives?
- What is the strategic plan for the next five years?
- What should be the key points in creating a vision for Hereford City?

Corporate Plan Priorities

Economic Development, community well being and enterprise

Timetable (some of the facilities are only open seasonally and will influence the time table)		
Activity	Timescale	
Agree approach, programme of consultation/research/provisional witnesses/dates	June 06	
Collect current available data	June and July 06	
Collect outstanding data	September 06	
Analysis of data	September 06	
Final confirmation of interviews of witnesses	June 06	
Carry out programme of interviews	July 06	
Agree programme of site visits	June 06	
Update to Economic and Community Scrutiny Committee	October 06	
Final analysis of data and witness evidence	August 06	
Prepare options/recommendations	September 06	

Present Final report to Economic and Community Scrutiny Committee	October 06
Present options/recommendations to Cabinet	November 06
Cabinet response	December 06
Implementation of agreed recommendations	January 07 onwards
	Support Officers
Members	
Members	
Members Hereford City Council Representative	Clare Witchbold – Regeneration Officer
	Clare Witchbold – Regeneration Officer Craig Goodall – Committee Officer (Scrutiny)
Hereford City Council Representative	· ·